Indiana State University Sycamore Scholars

All-Inclusive List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations

2013

# Factors Predicting Internalizing And Externalizing Psychopathology In A Sample Of Inner City Minority Women

Antonio Gonzalez Indiana State University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholars.indianastate.edu/etds

#### **Recommended Citation**

Gonzalez, Antonio, "Factors Predicting Internalizing And Externalizing Psychopathology In A Sample Of Inner City Minority Women" (2013). *All-Inclusive List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations*. 1392. https://scholars.indianastate.edu/etds/1392

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Sycamore Scholars. It has been accepted for inclusion in All-Inclusive List of Electronic Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of Sycamore Scholars. For more information, please contact dana.swinford@indstate.edu.

# VITA

# Antonio Gonzalez

#### **EDUCATION**

- 2013 Indiana State University, Terre Haute, IN PsyD in Clinical Psychology
- 2006 Indiana State University, Terre Haute, IN MS in Psychology
- 2004 Florida State University, Tallahassee, FL BS in Psychology and Spanish

## CLINICAL EXPERIENCE

- 2011-2013 St. Luke's-Roosevelt Hospital Center, New York, NY Substance Abuse Clinician
- 2009-2013 Metropolitan Center for Mental Health, New York, NY Staff Therapist
- 2008-2009 New York –Presbyterian Hospital/ Columbia University Medical Center, New York, NY Psychology Intern
- 2006-2008 Hamilton Center, Sullivan, Indiana Student Therapist
- 2005-2007 Psychology Clinic, Indiana State University, Terre Haute, IN Graduate Clinician
- 2005-2006 ADHD Clinic, Indiana State University, Terre Haute, IN ADHD Clinic Fellow

# FACTORS PREDICTING INTERNALIZING AND EXTERNALIZING

# PSYCHOPATHOLOGY IN A SAMPLE OF

## INNER CITY MINORITY WOMEN

A dissertation

Presented to

The College of Graduate and Professional Studies

Department of Psychology

Indiana State University

Terre Haute, Indiana

In Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree

Doctor of Psychology

by

Antonio Gonzalez

December 2013

Keywords: Minority Women, Psychopathology, Internalizing Disorders, Externalizing Disorders

UMI Number: 3604433

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI 3604433

Published by ProQuest LLC (2013). Copyright in the Dissertation held by the Author.

Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code



ProQuest LLC. 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106 - 1346

# COMMITTEE MEMBERS

Committee Chair: June Sprock, PhD

Professor, Department of Psychology

Indiana State University, Terre Haute, Indiana

Committee Member: Elizabeth O'Laughlin, PhD

Professor and Director of Clinical Training, Department of Psychology

Indiana State University, Terre Haute, Indiana

Committee Member: Veanne Anderson, PhD

Professor, Department of Psychology

Indiana State University, Terre Haute, Indiana

#### ABSTRACT

Women of minority backgrounds, particularly those of lower socioeconomic status, are vulnerable to a whole host of social and health related problems such as increased rates of depression, incarceration, sexual assault, and premature death. With such vulnerabilities, these women are at increased risk for developing internalizing disorders (i.e., depression and anxiety) and externalizing disorders (i.e., substance abuse, antisocial personality disorder), compared to women of higher socioeconomic status. The purpose of the present research was to examine factors that are predictive of the development of internalizing and externalizing psychopathology in minority women in an effort to construct a comprehensive model of psychopathology in minority women. The present study used archival data that were collected in four samples of inner city women in New York City. A correlational design, using both logistic regression and multiple regression, was used to examine predictors of internalizing and externalizing psychopathology. It was predicted that childhood or adolescence internalizing and externalizing psychopathology, trauma and abuse, and family history of psychiatric problems and substance abuse would predict the presence of these disorders in adulthood. It was also predicted that ethnicity and a history of treatment for these disorders in childhood or adolescence would moderate the relationship between the predictors and current diagnosis. Results of this study partly supported the hypotheses. Current internalizing disorder was predicted by the presence of childhood or adolescent internalizing disorder, trauma and physical/emotional abuse. Current externalizing disorder was predicted by early onset internalizing and externalizing

psychopathology, trauma, and family history of psychiatric problems and substance abuse. Ethnicity and childhood or adolescent treatment were not significant predictors or moderators. Measurement issues and other limitations of the data are discussed. Results of this study will help increase knowledge of the factors that contribute to the development of psychopathology in this under-researched group.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Many individuals were involved in helping me complete this project. First and foremost, I would like to thank my dissertation committee chair and mentor, Dr. June Sprock. Her support, guidance, and patience have been invaluable for the completion of this research project. Thank you for believing in me and never giving up on me! I would also like to thank my committee members, Drs. Elizabeth O'Laughlin and Veanne Anderson, for their helpful feedback and encouragement. In addition, this project would not be possible without Dr. Denise Hien, and the wonderful staff of the Trauma and Addiction Project at the City College of New York.

I would also like to thank my family and friends for their unconditional love and support throughout this process. A special thanks to my mother, Iris M. Vega, for her wonderful words of wisdom and support in helping me complete this project. I am so fortunate and blessed to have you in my life. Finally, I would like to thank my late father, Luis A. Gonzalez, for his strength, courage, and grace. Papi, you have inspired me to be the best man I can be. I hope I've made you proud!

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

COMMITTEE MEMBERS	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	V
LIST OF TABLES	viii
INTRODUCTION	1
Overview	1
Key Terms and Definitions	5
Depression in Women	6
Anxiety Disorders in Women	
Personality Disorders in Women	
Substance Abuse in Women	
Issues Specific to Minority Women	
The Present Study	
Hypotheses	
METHOD	
Design	
Participants	
Measures	
Procedure	

RESULTS	
Descriptive Statistics	54
Correlations	57
Multivariate Analyses	
Between Groups Analyses	62
DISCUSSION	63
Limitations	68
Strengths	70
Implications	71
Future Directions	72
REFERENCES	74
TABLES	97
APPENDIX A: STRUCTURED CLINICAL INTERVIEW FOR	
AXIS I DSM-IV DISORDERS	
APPENDIX B: DEMOGRAPHIC HISTORY FORM	113
APPENDIX C: TRAUMA LIFE HISTORY	117
APPENDIX D: CHILDHOOD TRAUMA QUESTIONNAIRE	
APPENDIX E: CHILDHOOD SEXUAL ABUSE INVENTORY	119
APPENDIX F: HAMILTON DEPRESSION RATING SCALE	

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Demographic Characteristics of the Participants	97
Table 2. Current Diagnoses of Internalizing and Externalizing Disorders	
Table 3. Descriptive Data for Trauma and Abuse Scales	
Table 4. Frequencies and Percentages for Categorical Predictor Variables	
Table 5. Pearson Correlations between Predictor Variables	
Table 6. Pearson Correlations between Predictor Variables and	
Criterion Variables	
Table 7. Logistic Regression Analysis Predicting Internalizing Disorders	
Table 8. Logistic Regression Analysis Predicting Externalizing Disorders	
Table 9. Linear Regression Predicting Hamilton Depression Rating	
Scale Score	
Table 10. Between Group MANOVA for Participant Ethnicity and	
Trauma and Abuse Scales	111

#### CHAPTER 1

#### Introduction

### **Overview**

Women of minority backgrounds, particularly those of lower socioeconomic status, are vulnerable to a whole host of social and health related problems. These women suffer increased rates of depression (Kessler et al., 2003), incarceration (Freudenberg, 2002), and premature death (Piatt, 2011). In addition, women of minority backgrounds living in the inner cities are more likely to be sexually assaulted or become involved in domestic violence (Rennison & Planty, 2003). With such vulnerabilities, these women are at increased risk for developing psychological problems, including internalizing disorders (i.e., depression and anxiety), externalizing disorders (i.e., substance abuse), and personality dysfunction (i.e., borderline personality disorder), compared with women of higher socioeconomic status (Kohn, Dohrenwend, & Mirotznik, 1998; Wadsworth & Achenbach, 2005).

The investigation into the role of the multiple factors that contribute to psychopathology has been well documented. There have been numerous studies examining the specific role of predisposing genetic factors, disturbed family environment, and stressful life events which ultimately lead to the development of internalizing and externalizing disorders and personality dysfunction. Most of these studies have specifically focused on the development of psychopathology such as depression, personality disorders, or substance abuse in women. However, there have been relatively few studies that have examined the development of both internalizing and externalizing psychopathology, and even fewer focusing on the unique factors for women from minority backgrounds.

Eaton et al. (2012) is one of the few studies that have sought to develop a model of internalizing and externalizing psychopathology. They examined data from a national representative sample of 43,903 individuals collected as part of the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions (NESARC) in an effort to identify gender differences in liability for disorders. The study confirmed the previous findings of higher prevalence of mood and anxiety disorders in women and antisocial personality disorder and substance use disorders in men. The study found support for broad internalizing and externalizing dimensions that under-lie the structure of these disorders for both women and men. However, women were higher on the latent internalizing trait dimension whereas men were higher on the externalizing dimension, consistent with the gender differences in prevalence rates for these disorders. The authors speculated that the differences in the latent liability factors might reflect women's tendency to ruminate and higher levels of trait neuroticism, and men's higher levels of disinhibition. These differences in trait liabilities, along with the increased rate of stressful life events reported by women, may explain the gender differences in the development of psychopathology. Although this study was based on self-report of lifetime diagnoses which may be subject to self-report and memory biases, it utilized a very large community sample and oversampled for African American and Hispanic participants.

Kendler, Gardner, and Prescott (2002) proposed a developmental model of major depression in women using data from 1,942 adult female twins. Eighteen risk factors for the development of major depression were considered across the women's lifespan. The results indicated that during childhood, risk factors for depression in adulthood included genetic risk,

disturbed family environment, childhood sexual abuse, and parental loss. In early adolescence, neuroticism, self-esteem, and early-onset anxiety and conduct disorders are risk factors for major depression. In late adolescence, educational attainment, lifetime traumas, social support, and substance misuse become increasingly important. Other risk factors include history of divorce, past history of major depression, marital problems, and stressful life events. The results of the study suggested three distinct pathways for the development of depression in women: an internalizing pathway (neuroticism and early-onset anxiety disorders), an externalizing pathway (conduct disorder and substance misuse), and an adversity pathway (negative environmental factors).

Joyce, McKenzie, Luty, Mulder, Carter, Sullivan, and Cloninger (2003) sought to establish a developmental model for risk factors that contribute to personality dysfunction in a study of depressed male and female outpatients who were evaluated for personality disorders, as well as a history of parental neglect, childhood abuse, temperament, and childhood and adolescent psychopathology. Abuse and neglect during childhood were predictive of increased avoidant and borderline diagnoses, the most frequent personality disorders found among the sample of 180 participants. In terms of temperament, harm avoidance was correlated with avoidant personality whereas borderline was associated with a combination of novelty-seeking and harm avoidance. Furthermore, early onset of anxiety disorders increased the risk of avoidant personality disorder, early onset substance abuse was associated with borderline personality disorder, whereas early onset major depression and conduct problems increased risk for both avoidant and borderline. Agrawal, Gardner, Prescott, and Kendler (2005) investigated the impact of 26 different risk factors in the development of substance abuse and/or dependence in a sample of 1,943 adult female-female twins. These risk factors were classified into several categories

including socio-demographic factors, religiosity measures, personality measures, childhood risk factors, and psychiatric illness. Risk factors that were most positively correlated with drug abuse/dependence included history of divorce, novelty-seeking, extraversion and altruism, childhood sexual abuse, and development of psychiatric disorders such as depression and anxiety. Overall, substance use disorders were associated with personality and environmental risk factors along with premorbid psychopathology.

The purpose of the present research was to examine factors that are predictive of the development of internalizing and externalizing psychopathology among ethnic minority women. The above studies examined antecedents of depression, personality disorders, or substance use in women; however, only the Eaton et al. (2012) study examined both internalizing and externalizing psychopathology in women and their study focused on the structural relationship between disorders. Moreover, none of studies focused on the unique factors that contribute to the development of these disorders in minority women, and two of the studies (Agawal et al., 2005; Kendler et al., 2002) did not include any minority women in their samples. The present research sought to construct a comprehensive model of psychopathology in minority women.

First, the literature on factors associated with the development of internalizing psychopathology (i.e., depression, anxiety) and externalizing psychopathology (i.e., cluster B personality disorders, substance abuse) in women is reviewed. This is followed by a brief review of psychopathology and the challenges faced by individuals from minority backgrounds, with a focus on minority women in particular. Finally, a study examining predictors of internalizing and externalizing psychopathology in ethnic minority women is presented. The present study used archival data that were collected as part of a longitudinal study of interpersonal violence in four samples of inner city women in New York City: a group diagnosed with cocaine abuse, a group

diagnosed with depression, a group with dual diagnosis, and a sample of women with no history of depression or substance abuse. The present study used a correlational design, both logistic regression and multiple regression, to examine predictors of internalizing and externalizing psychopathology in inner city minority women.

#### **Key Terms and Definitions**

Several key terms and their definitions for the purposes of this study are presented below: *Minority women* refers exclusively to women from ethnic minority backgrounds (i.e., African-American and Hispanic/Latino[a]) and does *not* include women who are considered to be sexual minorities, religious minorities, women who are physically disabled, or part of any other minority social group. At times, the terms "women of color" or "diverse women" were used in this paper to refer to women from ethnic minority backgrounds, depending on its use in a particular study or article being cited. Moreover, reference to a particular ethnic minority group adhered to the terminology used in the source (e.g., African American, Black).

*Internalizing disorders* refers to psychiatric conditions with primary symptoms that involve inner emotions as opposed to outward behavior (i.e., depression and anxiety). These disorders have been found to cluster together in multivariate studies, to share a common underlying vulnerability, and to frequently co-occur (e.g., Eaton et al., 2012; Watson, 2005).

*Externalizing disorders* refers to psychiatric conditions with primary symptoms that involve outward behavior as opposed to inner emotions (i.e., substance abuse and antisocial personality disorder). These disorders also tend to cluster in multivariate studies and share common etiological factors (e.g., Eaton et al., 2012).

#### **Depression in Women**

It has long been documented in the empirical literature that women are roughly twice as likely as men to suffer from depression (American Psychiatric Association [A.P.A.], 1994, 2000; Kuehner, 2003; McGrath, Keita, Strickland & Russo, 1990; Sprock & Yoder, 1997). Epidemiological research indicates that women have higher rates of major depressive disorder (Kessler et al., 1993) and dysthymic disorder (Bijl et al., 1998; Meyer et al., 2000). Although there is some variability, this difference has been found across cultures and societies (Maier et al., 1999; Weissman et al., 1996).

Many reasons have been offered for this gender difference, from hormonal changes and other biological differences (Angold et al., 1999; Hankon & Abramson, 2001; Hyde, Mezulis & Abramson, 2008), to socialization practices that foster develop of personality and cognitive styles that predispose women to depression (Eaton et al., 2012; Feingold, 1994; Lynn & Martin, 1997; Nolen-Hoeksema et al., 1999), societal inequality and increased rates of poverty (Astbury, 2001), to increased rates of sexual and physical abuse (Golding, 1999; Oddone Paolucci et al., 2001). Because the gender differences in depression emerge in adolescence and lessen with older age, reproductive hormones have been implicated in women's increased risk for depression (Angold et al., 1998; O'Hara & Swain, 1996; McGrath, Keita, Strickland & Russo, 1990; Sprock & Yoder, 1997). Women are subject to hormonal changes that may contribute to the development of postpartum depression. In addition, women have higher rates of thyroid disorder which is associated with depression (O'Keane, 2000) and endocrine dysregulation (e.g., hypothalamus-adrenal-pituitary axis) which increases vulnerability to stressors in the environment (Hyde et al., 2008; Weiss et al., 1999).

The role of genetics in the development of depression has been well documented (Hyde et al., 2008; Kendler et al., 2001; Lau & Eley, 2010; Saveanu & Nemeroff, 2012; Sullivan et al., 2000), and reproductive hormones may interact with a genetic diathesis (i.e., vulnerability) to increase risk of depression in women (Bloch et al., 2000; Hyde et al., 2008). Children born to a depressed mother are more likely to develop depression (Murray et al., 2011), due to heritability as well as other familial factors that increase their vulnerability to depression including insecure attachment and lowered resilience along with increased adversity (Murray et al., 2011).

Comorbid psychopathology may also contribute to higher rates of depression in women, including higher rates of anxiety disorders and eating disorders (Gadalla, 2008). These psychopathologies may be due to shared etiological factors or may be predisposing factors that increase vulnerability to depression (Watson, 2005). Substance abuse disorders are positively correlated with mood disorders, particularly in women (Zilberman et al., 2003). Substance abuse may contribute to the development of mood disorder or may be a maladaptive coping response to depression which in turn has negative consequences of increasing the risk of depression (Kahler, Ramsey, Read, & Brown, 2002). Moreover, women who abuse substances are at an increased risk for becoming involved in abusive relationships and may be susceptible to traumatic events, further elevating the risk of developing depression and anxiety disorder (Kilpatrick, Acierno, Resnick, Saunders, & Best, 1997). Involvement in abusive relationships often leads to increased stressful life events that negatively impact family relationships (Zilberman et al, 2003), thereby creating a cycle of psychopathology from generation to generation.

Women have higher rates of abuse in childhood and adulthood, including sexual and emotional abuse, that contribute to higher rates of depression (Fletcher, 2009; MacMillan et al., 2001). Women also have higher rates of poverty (Gadalla, 2008; Vlachantoni, 2012) and are paid

less for their work than men in comparable positions (Blau & Kahn, 2006; 2007). Gender roles and socialization practices may contribute to the development of personality traits and cognitive styles in women that increase vulnerability to depression (Bebbington, 1996; Hyde et al., 2008; Nolen-Hoeksema, 1990; Sprock & Yoder, 1997; Wolk & Weissman, 1995). For example, women are more likely than men to develop a ruminative cognitive style that focuses attention inward and that may contribute both to the development and maintenance of depression, whereas men tend to utilize distraction in response to negative affect (Nolen-Hoeksema, 1991). In addition, women are socialized to be more dependent on interpersonal relationships, thereby increasing their vulnerability to interpersonal stressors.

It is apparent that there are numerous factors throughout the lifespan that contribute to the development of depression in women. Relatively few studies, however, have attempted to consider the interaction of multiple variables on the development of depression in women. In a study by Kendler et al. (2002), a developmental model was constructed using data from 1,942 adult female twins who were interviewed up to four times over a 9-year period. The study examined 18 distinct risk factors for the development of major depression across the women's lifespan. During childhood, risk factors included genetic risk, disturbed family environment, childhood sexual abuse, and parental loss. As women move into early adolescence, neuroticism, self-esteem, and early-onset anxiety and conduct disorders are risk factors for major depression. In late adolescence, educational attainment, lifetime traumas, social support, and substance misuse become increasingly important. Other risk factors include history of divorce, past history of major depression, as well as marital problems and stressful life events. The results of the study suggested three distinct pathways for the development of depression in women: an internalizing pathway (neuroticism and early-onset anxiety disorders), an externalizing pathway (conduct

disorder and substance misuse), and an adversity pathway. The adversity pathway is the most complex in so far as it includes the environmental factors across the developmental lifespan of women from early childhood (disturbed family environment, childhood sexual abuse, and parental loss) through adulthood (low social support and history of divorce). One important limitation of this study was that the twin pairs interviewed in the study were all Caucasian women from Virginia, and women from minority backgrounds were not included. The authors noted that the model assumed a causal relationship between predictor variables and dependent variables. However, it is difficult to say whether, for example, neuroticism leads to low educational attainment or whether it is a bi-directional relationship.

McBride and Bagby (2006) proposed an integrative model of depression in women that links ruminative cognitive style with interpersonal dependency. Their model was developed based on a review of the literature, particularly the work of Nolen-Hoeksema (e.g., Nolen-Hoeksema, 1990, 1991; Nolen-Hoeksema et al., 1999). In their model, interpersonal dependency, which may be viewed as either adaptive or maladaptive, predisposes women to depression only when it leads to maladaptive rumination. The authors argued that the gender differences in terms of cognitive style may be related to early socialization and inequalities in social power. They also noted that women are at greater risk of emotional and sexual abuse, which has also been linked to a ruminative cognitive style.

Based on an extensive review of the research, Hyde, Mezulis, and Abramson (2008) offered an integrative model that takes into account the affective (temperament), biological (genetic vulnerabilities and hormonal changes), and cognitive (negative cognitive style, objectified body consciousness, and rumination) factors that contribute to gender differences in the development of depression. According to this model, these factors function as vulnerabilities

that, when combined with negative life events (i.e., peer sexual harassment, child sex abuse, and interpersonal events), increase rates of depression for women beginning in adolescence through adulthood. Their conclusions were based on the premise that multiple pathways exist for the development of depression as opposed to a single pathway. The effect size of any single pathway is small because that pathway pertains to only a small subset of women who ultimately develop depression.

In a study using German college students, an integrative model of depression was tested empirically in order to explain the higher incidence of depression in women (Huckert & Krampen, 2010). The study considered the contribution of sex-role orientation (SRO), stressful life events, and locus of control in predicting the level of depression in male and female college students based on a variety of self-report measures. In their path model, gender did not have a direct effect on level of depression, but had an indirect effect through sex role orientation and stressful life events. The results suggested that women experience higher levels of depression due to lower internal locus of control and greater sensitivity to stressful life events compared to men. Furthermore, according to the authors, the lower internal locus of control seen in women results from traditional gender role socialization as opposed to actual gender differences. Limitations of this study include the use of self-report measures rather than clinical diagnoses, a cross-sectional rather than longitudinal design, and lack of diversity among participants.

**Depression in minority women**. One limitation noted for much of the above research is the lack of inclusion of African American and other minority women in the studies. There are even fewer studies that specifically focus on depression in African American women (Carrington, 2006). Although early trauma and other adverse life events are not unique to this population, minority women are more likely to experience a whole set of psychosocial problems

that make them vulnerable to the development of depression, including poverty, unemployment, single parent families, substance abuse, and untreated mental illness (Brown, Abe-Kim, & Barrio, 2003; Carrington, 2006). Women of minority backgrounds may be especially vulnerable to detrimental societal factors. These women are often left to take care of children on their own, as rates of single-mothers among minority women are exponentially higher compared to Caucasian women. The combination of poverty, lack of access to adequate health care, limited community resources, high rates of unemployment, and dependence on social welfare programs all contribute to increased rates of depression and anxiety, particularly among lower-income women of minority backgrounds (Carrington, 2006; Das et al., 2006; Jackson, 2006). The roles of discrimination, prejudice, racism, and the legacy of slavery continue to negatively influence the socioeconomic status of African American women (Carrington, 2006). African American women also have multiple exposures to community and domestic violence that contribute to the development of depression and other comorbid disorders (Carrington, 2006).

There are also considerable barriers to African American women seeking and receiving treatment for depression (Carrington, 2006; Das, Olfson, McCurtis & Weissman, 2006; Jackson, 2006) which contribute to prolongation of the disorder. Women from these communities often feel neglected by and isolated from the society at large. As a consequence, health care providers may be viewed through a lens of suspicion rather than broad acceptance, particularly if the provider if of another race (Jackson, 2006). African American women also prefer religious and spiritual means of coping with distress rather than mental health resources (Carrington, 2006; Jackson, 2006). Moreover, when African American women seek treatment, they often present with increased pain and somatic symptoms, as well as comorbid diagnoses, resulting in failure to detect depression, under-diagnosis and under-treatment (Carrington, 2006; Das et al., 2006).

African American women also have decreased levels of treatment adherence and follow-up (Das et al., 2006; Shelton, Goldman, Emmons, Sorensen, & Allen, 2011) further contributing to the perpetuation of depression. Moreover, there are few clinical trials examining the effectiveness of antidepressants or therapy for depression in African Americans, and even fewer for African American women (Jackson, 2006).

Cutrona et al. (2005) examined the role that neighborhood context, negative life events, and negative affectivity played in the development of depression in 720 African-American women. Results suggested that neighborhood-level disadvantage (i.e., high rates of poverty and unemployment) and social disorder (i.e., drug use) were predictive of the onset of major depression, irrespective of personal risk factors (i.e., negative affect and negative life events). In this study, the authors described neighborhood economic disadvantage as living in poor neighborhoods where resources are scarce. There are few employment opportunities and residents lack adequate social support leading to frustration and feelings of hopelessness and depression. Social disorder refers to the lack of order and safety found in poor neighborhoods due to neglect including deteriorated housing and inadequate police protection. Under these conditions, illegal activity is often left unchecked leading to feelings of helplessness and depression. This study emphasizes the important role that the environment has on the development of psychiatric disorders in minority women.

In a study by Luke et al. (2009), a total of 546 pregnant African-American women were screened for major depression. The purpose of the study was to determine the risk factors for depression among low-income African-American women prior to giving birth. Results indicated that about a quarter of the participants screened had symptomatology consistent with major depression. Another important finding was that age was a major risk factor in the likelihood of

developing depression. Women were far more likely to present with depression symptomatology after age 30. The authors explained this finding as a function of the cumulative stress (i.e., trauma and discrimination) that low-income African-American women experience over the course of their lifetime.

In another more recent study on the association between social stressors and depression, 119 pregnant African-American women receiving care were studied (Dailey & Humphreys, 2011). Social stress variables included discrimination, trauma exposure, social conflict, and economic stress. Nearly two-thirds of the women in the study had depressive symptomatology. There was also a significant positive relationship between social stress variables and depression. Moreover, discrimination and social conflict taken together accounted for 36% of the variance in prenatal depression symptoms.

Latina women may face some different challenges than African-American women including issues of language, cultural differences and level of acculturation, immigration and immigration status. These concerns may interact with factors such as poverty, unemployment, violence and abuse that contribute to the development of depression in minority women. Diaz et al. (2007) investigated the change in depression symptomatology over the course of pregnancy in a sample of Latina women. In the study, women were categorized into either high-risk group (N = 36) or low-risk group (N = 33), depending on their scores on a depression screening measure. Women who reported higher levels of social support and better marital quality experienced a decrease in depressive symptoms, regardless of their level of risk. These results suggest that social support and marital quality are important protective factors in the development of depression in Latina women.

In another study, in a sample of 135 Latina women, almost half (48%) scored high enough to suggest possible depression on a screening measure (Fox & Kim-Godwin, 2011). Lack of social support as well as immigration status and marital status were found to be the most reliable predictors of depression in this sample of Latina women. It should be noted that the women in this study were mostly migrant workers of Mexican descent (93%) taken from a rural setting so that the risk factors do not necessarily generalize to all women of Hispanic background.

In addition to immigration status, Latina women, as well as women from other minority groups, are more likely to experience intimate partner violence (IPV) as compared to Caucasian women (Fedovskiy, Higgins, & Paranjape, 2008). The correlation between IPV and symptoms of depression and post-traumatic stress disorder was assessed in a sample of Latina women (Fedovskiy et al., 2008). Nearly 50% of the women recruited (N = 105) had depression symptomatology and 19% were diagnosed with PTSD. The women who were abused by their partners were 3 times as likely to have symptoms of PTSD as non-abused women. In addition, the women diagnosed with PTSD were 10 times more likely to also endorse depressive symptoms.

These studies shed light on some of the unique challenges that women from minority backgrounds encounter that increase their vulnerability for the development of depression as well as other comorbid psychiatric conditions, particularly anxiety disorders. Factors such as high rates of unemployment, poverty, racism and prejudice, domestic and neighborhood violence, lack of child care and other resources, as well as inadequate health care all contribute to the development and perpetuation of depression and emotional distress in these women.

#### **Anxiety Disorders in Women**

Anxiety disorders are the second most commonly diagnosed psychiatric disorders, following depression (Maier et al., 2000) and are more frequently diagnosed in women (A.P.A., 1994, 2000). Similar to depression, women are about twice as likely as men to be diagnosed with an anxiety disorder (Halbreich, 2003). According to the National Comorbidity Survey (NCS), the lifetime prevalence of generalized anxiety disorder (GAD) is 6.6% for women compared to 3.6% for men (Wittchen et al., 1999). Women also have a higher prevalence of other anxiety disorders, including panic disorder, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), phobias, obsessive-compulsive disorder, and social anxiety disorders (Halbreich, 2003; Kessler et al., 1998; Pigott, 1999; Schmidt & Keough, 2010).

Many factors contribute to the disproportionately higher prevalence rate of anxiety disorders in women compared to men including physiological factors, such as the role of reproductive hormones, increased activity of the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis and increased anxiety sensitivity (Halbreich, 2003; Hearon et al., 2011). Similar to depression, anxiety disorders are more prevalent during pregnancy, suggesting the role of reproductive hormones (Halbreich, 2003; Pigott, 1999). Also like depression, anxiety disorders in the mother may cause problems for a newborn child (Field et al., 2003). Research suggests a considerable degree of heritability for the anxiety disorders; however, anxiety disorders are likely a result of interactions among genes and between genes and environmental factors, rather than any one gene (Smoller, Block & Young, 2009). Personality factors such as the tendency to internalize distress, as well as environmental and social factors, such as higher rates of abuse for women, contribute to increased vulnerability to anxiety disorders in women (Halbreich, 2003). Thus, the higher

rates of anxiety disorders in women are likely due to the interaction of biological factors with personality and environmental factors, such as higher rates of abuse (Halbreich, 2003).

Many of the factors that contribute to higher rates of depression in women are also relevant to anxiety disorders, as there may be common factors in the etiology of these disorders, and they are frequently comorbid (Mineka et al., 1998; Watson, 2005). Women with depression show higher rates of symptoms of anxiety. Depression and anxiety have been conceptualized as sharing a common factor of negative affect and may even be alternative manifestations of the same underlying pathology (Watson, 2005). Both disorders may represent manifestations of an underlying internalizing dimension which is higher for women than men (Eaton et al., 2012).

Research studies have demonstrated a high degree of comorbidity between anxiety disorders and depression (Watson, 2005; Wittchen et al., 1999). For example, a study conducted in Portugal (Alves et al., 2011) examined the prevalence and comorbidity of depression, anxiety, and stress. Participants were recruited from a health clinic that provided services for the urban and rural population. A strong association was found between depression, anxiety, and stress. Women were found to present with higher levels of anxiety and depression compared to men. There was also a high degree of comorbidity between depression and anxiety. In a similar study in Australia, Williams et al. (2010) found that approximately a third of the women surveyed (34.8%) reported a lifetime history of a mood and/or anxiety disorder. A total of 14.4% of women surveyed met criteria for a current mood and/or anxiety disorder, with similar rates for mood (8.9%) and anxiety disorders (8.0%). These results are consistent with other epidemiological studies that have been conducted in a various countries suggesting high rates of mood and anxiety disorders in the general population, and particularly in women (e.g., Watson, 2005; Wittchen et al., 1999).

Mineka and Zinbarg (2006) offered a contemporary learning model for the etiology of anxiety disorders in which genetic and temperamental vulnerabilities, coupled with exposure to stress, leads to the development of anxiety disorders. Although their model was not specific to women, there are a number of aspects of the theory that are relevant to gender differences. Previous experience with a stressor, perceptions of controllability, contextual variables, and postconditioning factors contribute to the development and maintenance of anxiety disorders. For example, history of childhood abuse, especially repeated abuse, may result in sensitization to the effects of trauma later in life rather than habituation. In addition, prior trauma related to interpersonal violence such as abuse is more predictive of later development of PTSD as compared to trauma stemming from combat or an accident. Trauma that is perceived as uncontrollable and unpredictable is more likely to result in development of PTSD. Thus, women are more likely than men to develop PTSD symptoms as a result of higher rates of sexual and physical abuse (Cortina & Kubiak, 2006). Even when they experience similar traumas, women are more likely to develop PTSD than men (Tolin & Foa, 2008). Social factors including social learning, modeling, social reinforcement, verbal instruction, and gender roles also influence the development of anxiety disorders. For example, women may be more at risk for agoraphobia because it is more acceptable for women to stay at home, whereas those who must leave home for employment may be more likely to be exposed to the feared situation, which would extinguish anxiety (Mineka & Zinbarg, 2006).

Several studies have examined predictors of anxiety disorders in women. A study by Feerick and Snow (2005) sought to investigate the relationship between childhood sexual abuse, social anxiety and symptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) in a sample of over 300 undergraduate women. Participants provided information about family background, childhood

and adolescent experiences with sexual abuse, and current relationships. Their results showed that women with a history of sexual abuse reported significantly more anxiety, distress, and symptoms of PTSD relative to women with no history of sexual abuse. The authors of the study hypothesized that women who experience abuse are likely shaped by the experience in such a way that affects their internal representation of the self. This internalizing, in turn, contributes to a vicious cycle of social anxiety coupled with social incompetence, effectively heightening anxiety over time.

Pico-Alfonso et al. (2006) investigated the impact of intimate partner violence (IPV) on women's mental health, including anxiety and depression. One hundred eighty-two women in Spain participated in the study and were divided into one of three groups: physically/psychologically abused (n = 75), psychologically abused (n = 55), and non-abused (n = 52). The women were interviewed four to six times regarding their life and health as part of a larger project investigating the impact of IPV on mental and physical health. Detailed information was collected regarding violence perpetrated by an intimate male partner and lifetime history of victimization (i.e., childhood abuse and adulthood victimization). A mental health assessment was also conducted to collect data on depressive symptoms, anxiety, PTSD, and suicide attempts. Results indicated that IPV increases the incidence and severity of depressive, PTSD, and anxiety symptomatology. Moreover, results suggested that psychological abuse is just as harmful as physical abuse in terms of effect on depression and anxiety.

Anxiety disorders in minority women. There are also some unique factors that contribute to the development of anxiety disorders in minority women as compared to Caucasian women, including increased exposure to trauma, particularly interpersonal violence, limited social support, low socioeconomic status, and other barriers to receiving treatment (Seng et al.,

2011). In addition, minority women may be further marginalized if they are HIV positive or living with AIDS (Lopez, Antoni, Fekete, & Penedo, 2012). However, research examining anxiety disorders in the minority population is very limited, and even fewer studies have examined anxiety disorders in minority women.

Minority women may be exposed to more trauma than women from majority backgrounds, which may account for the higher rates of PTSD and other anxiety disorders (Roberts et al., 2011). In a recent study using a sample of pregnant women (Seng et al., 2011), African-American women were more likely to have had exposure to trauma and had higher rates of post-traumatic stress disorder symptoms and diagnoses compared to non-African-Americans. The lifetime and current prevalence rates of PTSD among African-American women in the study (24% and 13.5%, respectively) were significantly greater than for other women (17.1% and 3.5%). The differential rates of PTSD were explained as a consequence of the greater trauma exposure within the African American community rather than differences associated with socioeconomic status.

The cycle of trauma and subsequent difficulties that are associated with exposure to traumatic events appears to begin at a young age for those from minority backgrounds. Roberts et al. (2011) analyzed data from structured diagnostic interviews conducted as part of the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions (NESARC). The purpose of this analysis was to determine race/ethnic differences in terms of exposure to traumatic events, development of PTSD, and seeking treatment for PTSD. Although Whites were more likely to be exposed to any trauma, Blacks and Hispanics had higher rates of child maltreatment, particularly witnessing domestic violence. Blacks were slightly more likely to develop PTSD

compared to Whites, and all minority groups (i.e., Blacks, Hispanics, and Asians) were less likely to seek treatment for PTSD compared to Whites.

Treatment barriers may contribute to the prevalence of anxiety disorders and other psychiatric illnesses among minority women. In a study highlighting the treatment barriers for low-income African Americans, 22% of the participants met criteria for PTSD (Davis et al., 2008) compared to a range of 9-12% in the US population at-large (Kessler et al, 2005; Resnick et al, 1993). Of the 220 participants in the study, 59.3% were women (N = 130) and nearly all were African American (97.3%). Only a small group of participants with PTSD (13.3%) reported having received PTSD-focused treatment, despite a history of mental health services for other conditions (i.e., depression, schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, or anxiety disorder). The study noted that the most significant barriers to treatment among this sample included limited finances and transportation, family disapproval, negative therapy experiences of others, community disapproval, and ineligibility for services. As a result, minority women who do not seek treatment for anxiety disorders may experience more severe symptoms and life stressors. The under-treatment of anxiety disorders in minority women may also relate to the general findings that anxiety disorders are under-diagnosed and under-treated (Lam, 2006; Unutzer, 2008).

#### **Personality Disorders in Women**

According to results of the National Epidemiological Survey on Alcohol and Related Conditions (Grant et al., 2004), 14.8% of the general population meets criteria for at least one personality disorder. The National Comorbidity Survey Replication (Lenzenweger et al., 2007) reported that 9.1% of the population had at least one personality disorder. In terms of gender differences, the prevalence rates of avoidant, dependent, and paranoid personality disorders were significantly greater in women than in men, whereas antisocial personality disorder was

significantly more frequent in men than in women. Historically, histrionic and borderline personality disorder have been diagnosed with greater frequency in women (Trull et al., 2010), although there has been some criticism regarding the validity of the diagnostic criteria used to make such clinical judgments (Jane et al., 2007; Morey, Warner, & Boggs, 2002; Trull et al., 2010).

The revised National Epidemiological Survey of Alcohol and Related Conditions (NESARC-REVISED; Trull et al. 2010) also reported a lifetime prevalence rate of 9.1% for a personality disorder in the United States. They also found gender differences, with paranoid, borderline, avoidant, and dependent personality disorder more common in women, and antisocial and narcissistic personality disorder more frequently diagnosed for men. In addition, the revised NESARC results indicated that histrionic and obsessive compulsive personality disorders were significantly more common in women than men.

Within psychiatric populations, personality disorders are highly prevalent. Newton-Howes et al. (2010) sought to measure the prevalence of personality disorders within a sample of psychiatric patients in the United Kingdom. Results suggested that 40% of the total sample suffered from a personality disorder. Results also suggested that personality disorders accounted for greater degree of dysfunction compared to psychosis or substance abuse.

Personality disorders are also highly comorbid with Axis I disorders. In a family history study, Zanarini et al. (2009) sought to examine the relationship between borderline personality disorder (BPD) and a wide range of Axis I and Axis II disorders. The researchers found that BPD was associated with other conditions including mood disorders, substance abuse disorders, anxiety disorders, and eating disorders in first-degree relatives. In other words, BPD is more likely to emerge in families with a high degree of affective instability and impulsivity.

The revised NESARC results (Trull et al., 2010) also indicated that for comorbidity with alcohol dependence, the highest lifetime prevalence rates were seen in individuals with antisocial, histrionic, and borderline personality disorder, each at approximately 50%. Those individuals with histrionic, dependent, and antisocial personality disorder also had the highest rates of comorbidity with drug dependence at roughly 25%. These patterns of comorbidity may also relate to gender differences in personality disorders and Axis I disorders, with women having higher rates of mood and eating disorders and men having higher rates of substance use disorders.

A variety of factors contribute to the development of personality disorders in women, including genetics, temperament, and childhood experiences. There is increasing evidence for the biological bases of personality disorders and temperament. Research suggests moderate heritability of the major trait dimensions (i.e., negative affect, detachment, antagonism, disinhibition, and psychoticism), and that gene-environment interactions contribute to the development of personality disorders (Jang et al., 2005; South & DeYoung, 2012). There is also increased recognition of the role of stressors, especially abuse, physical and sexual abuse, and neglect in the development of borderline and other personality disorders (Paris, 2001). Parental psychopathology, negative parenting styles, divorce, and cultural/social factors are additional risk factors. However, given that most children are resilient and do not develop a personality disorder in response to negative life events, there appears to be an interaction of vulnerability with environmental factors (Paris, 2001).

Zanarini et al. (1997) sought to assess the adverse childhood experiences of patients who had been diagnosed with borderline personality disorder (BPD) compared to patients with other personality disorders. Patients diagnosed with BPD were significantly more likely to have been

neglected or abused than patients with other personality disorders. Over 90% of the patients diagnosed with BPD had reported that they had been either abused or neglected or both. The researchers concluded that four specific risk factors were found to be significant predictors of BPD: female gender, sexual abuse by male non-caretaker, emotional denial by male caretaker, and inconsistent treatment by female caretaker.

Kasen et al. (1999) conducted a prospective study in which children between 9-16 years old were assessed at three distinct points over a 10 year period. The purpose of the study was to examine the relationship between childhood psychopathology and development of personality disorders in young adults. In this study, children who had a history of disruptive disorders, anxiety disorders, and major depression all were significantly more likely to develop a personality disorder as a young adult. Results suggest that early onset of psychiatric disorders may cause more persistent psychopathology over time.

Joyce et al. (2003) sought to establish a developmental model for risk factors that contribute to personality dysfunction. In this study, 180 depressed outpatients were evaluated for personality disorders. Patients completed a series of self-report questionnaires at baseline clinical assessment, including the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-III-R-personality questionnaire (SCID-PQ; Spitzer, Williams, & Gibbon, 1987) and the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-III-R- Axis II (SCID-II; Spitzer, Williams, & Gibbon, 1987). In addition, risk factors for personality disorders were assessed by using a variety of instruments designed to measure parental neglect, childhood abuse, temperament, and childhood and adolescent psychopathology. The most common personality disorders found in the study were avoidant (24%) and borderline (17%). With respect to childhood environmental risk factors, increasing levels of abuse and neglect during childhood were predictive of increased avoidant and borderline diagnoses. In terms of temperamental risk factors, harm avoidance was correlated with avoidant personality whereas borderline was associated with a combination of novelty-seeking and harm avoidance. Furthermore, the results showed a relationship between childhood and adolescent psychopathology and development of personality disorders. Not surprisingly, early onset of anxiety disorders increased the risk of avoidant personality disorder whereas early onset substance abuse increased the rate of borderline. Increased rates of both avoidant and borderline were seen in patients with early onset of first major depression and childhood conduct problems. Overall, anxious temperament and childhood anxiety disorders, coupled with parental neglect, were most predictive of avoidant personality disorder, and the interaction between childhood abuse and neglect, high novelty-seeking and harm avoidance, and childhood and adolescent psychopathology were associated with borderline personality disorder.

Pico-Alfonso, Echeburua, and Martinez (2008) examined personality disorder symptoms of women who were victims of intimate partner violence (IPV) in Spain. In the study, women who had been victims of physical and psychological violence were compared with women who had no history of abuse. The women were interviewed about their lives and health over several sessions and were asked about physical, sexual, and psychological violence perpetrated by an intimate partner and experiences of childhood abuse. Personality was assessed using a Spanish version of the Millon Clinical Multiaxial Inventory-II (MCMI-II; Millon, 1987), a self-report inventory that measures personality styles, severe personality disorders, and clinical syndromes. Results showed that women who were victims of IPV had higher scores on the personality disorder scales than the non-abused control group. It is important to note that the researchers controlled for experiences of childhood abuse. Nevertheless, both physical and psychological IPV were strongly associated with personality disorder symptomatology.
Although antisocial personality disorder is less common in women, Hicks, Vaidyanathan, and Patrick (2010) sought to test whether the related constructs of primary and secondary psychopathy, subtypes found in men, were also present in women. The primary psychopathy subtype is consistent with an emotionally stable personality style whereas the secondary subtype is consistent with more severe emotional disturbance and personality disorder, as determined on the broad trait construct of Negative Emotionality (NEM; Hicks & Patrick, 2006; Watson & Clark, 1984). According to the authors of the study, secondary psychopathy in women manifests similarly to borderline personality disorder insofar as it is characterized by a cluster of symptoms including extreme negative emotion and impulsivity; substance abuse; reactive anger, aggression, and violence; trauma; and suicidal behavior (Trull, 2001). In contrast, women with primary psychopathy were more psychologically stable and exhibited later onset of antisocial and criminal behavior.

**Personality disorders in minority women**. Few studies have examined the prevalence of personality disorders for different ethnic groups (Chavira et al., 2003; McGilloway et al., 2010), and there are no known studies examining the rate of personality disorders specific to minority women. Utilizing data from the Collaborative Longitudinal Personality Disorder Study, Chavira et al. (2003) examined the prevalence of four personality disorders (borderline, schizotypal, avoidant, obsessive-compulsive) in three ethnic groups (African American, Caucasian, Hispanic) based on structured interviews of over 500 patients. The researchers found higher rates of borderline in Hispanic than in Caucasian and African American patients, and higher rates of schizotypal in African American than Caucasian patients.

Based on a meta-analysis of the literature on ethnic variations in the prevalence, etiology and treatment of personality disorders, McGilloway et al. (2010) concluded that the one

consistent finding was that Black participants had a small but statistically significant lower prevalence of personality disorders compared to Whites. Few studies focused on the etiology of personality disorders in ethnic minorities. Their review also indicated that individuals from ethnic minority groups are less likely to seek treatment for personality disorders compared to their white counterparts and may be under-diagnosed and under-treated. Overall, the data on ethnicity and personality disorders is limited due to the small number of studies.

Perez-Benitez et al. (2010) examined data from the Collaborative Longitudinal Personality Disorder Study (CLPS) to compare adverse childhood experiences and lifetime traumatic events among different ethnic groups for individuals with personality disorders. They were also interested in whether ethnicity affected rates of psychiatric disorders among individuals exposed to trauma. The study compared 506 non-Hispanic Whites, 108 Latinos, and 94 African American participants, and women comprised 63% of the participants. Like other studies, they found a high rate of comorbid major depression, PTSD and substance use disorders among these individuals with personality disorders. Results suggested that non-Hispanic Whites were exposed to more negative and traumatic events compared to other ethnic groups, whereas African Americans were more likely to report having witnessed someone being injured or killed. However, there did not appear any significant interaction between ethnicity, trauma exposure, and development of psychiatric disorders. Results suggested a high rate of adverse and traumatic events across all ethnic groups in individuals with personality disorders suggesting that environmental factors play an important role in the development of personality disorders.

#### Substance Abuse in Women

According to the Epidemiologic Catchment Area (ECA; Regier et al., 1990) study, it is estimated that nearly 1 in 5 adults in the United States will meet criteria for a substance use

disorder at some point in their life, with 13.5% alcohol abuse/dependence and 6.1% for other drug abuse/dependence. Research studies on gender and substance abuse have shown that women are less likely to develop problems related to drugs and alcohol compared to men (A.P.A., 1994, 2000; Brady & Randall, 1999). In the National Comorbidity Survey (NCS; Kessler et al., 1994), 5.9% of women ages 15-54 were found to meet the criteria for a diagnosis of lifetime dependence on an illicit or psychoactive drug, and lifetime prevalence rate of alcohol dependence for women was 8.2 %. However, women who develop substance abuse problems often report a greater severity of problems compared to men (Fuchs et al., 1995) and do so at a much more accelerated rate than their male counterparts (Randall et al., 1999). Also, women are far less likely than men to seek specialized substance abuse treatment, preferring to seek mental health services instead (Weisner & Schmidt, 1992).

Many reasons have been offered for the gender difference in rates of alcohol and drug abuse disorders, from biological differences (Marshall et al., 1983), to socialization practices that foster the development of personality and cognitive styles that predispose women to depression and other internalizing disorders and men to develop externalizing disorders such as substance abuse and antisocial personality disorder (Cornelius et al., 1995; Eaton et al., 2012; Nolen-Hoeksema et al., 1999).

Like the other disorders that have been reviewed, genetics play a significant role in the vulnerability to developing substance use disorders; vulnerability is likely due to multiple genes that interact with environmental factors (Kreek et al., 2005; Velleman et al., 2005). Research on the interaction of genetics and environment in substance use disorders has consistently found that environments that exert more social control (i.e., higher parental monitoring) tend to reduce genetic influences (Dick & Kendler, 2012). Furthermore, Baker and colleagues (2012) found that

substance use in the household during childhood, and parental attitudes towards substance use, account for a significant proportion of shared environmental effects.

There is also a high rate of comorbid psychopathology in substance abuse disorders (Kessler et al., 1997), and comorbid psychopathology may also play a role in the development of substance abuse disorders (Schutte, Hearst, & Moos, 1997). According to the self-medication hypothesis, individuals may use substances as a way of coping with the discomfort associated with other mental disorders, such as mood and anxiety disorders (Khantzian, 2003; Suh et al, 2008) and to cope with trauma (Haller & Chassin, 2012). For example, Gil-Rivas, Prause, and Grella (2009) examined the association of depression and anxiety symptoms and trauma exposure to substance abuse patients at the beginning of residential treatment and at 6-month and 12-month follow-up. Nearly all of the study participants reported lifetime trauma exposure, and more than one-third met criteria for PTSD. Trauma exposure and depression and anxiety symptoms were associated with increased likelihood of substance abuse at follow-up. The researchers concluded that the results support the self-medication hypothesis of substance abuse, particularly among individuals with co-occurring disorders.

Comorbid psychopathology may also contribute to the differential rates of substance use disorders in men and women. Zilberman, Tavares, Blume and el-Guebaly (2003) reviewed the psychiatric comorbidity of individuals with substance abuse disorders. Women with alcohol and other drug use disorders were more likely to present with psychiatric comorbidity compared to men. More specifically, women presented with higher rates of mood and anxiety disorders compared to men. It is also interesting to note that for women, the mood or anxiety disorder

diagnosis was more often the primary condition whereas the substance abuse disorder was considered secondary.

More recently, Grella et al. (2009) examined the association between other mental disorders and substance use disorders among individuals with opioid use disorders. The study sample was taken from the National Epidemiological Study on Alcohol and Related Conditions (NESARC). Study results indicated that 70% of the sample had another lifetime diagnosis of an Axis I mental disorder and 50% had a personality disorder. Individuals with Axis I mental disorders were nearly three times as likely to be dependent on other substances, regardless of their gender. However, women were about twice as likely to have a mood or anxiety disorder, whereas men were more likely to be diagnosed with antisocial personality disorder.

Ruiz et al. (2012) examined the association between co-occurring mental health and substance abuse disorders in a sample of male and female offenders. Results suggested that offenders with substance abuse disorders were more likely to have increased mental health problems and risk factors for suicide compared to other offenders. Also, women with substance abuse disorders were more likely to be depressed and to have suffered traumatic stress compared to male offenders.

A number of studies have examined risk factors in the development of substance use disorders. Logan et al. (2002) proposed an integrated model of the development of victimization and substance abuse in women. The authors divided the risk factors into four broad categories: trauma and coping factors, lifestyle factors, sociological factors, and contextual factors. Trauma and coping factors consisted of several risk factors, including child and adolescent victimization (i.e., abuse and/or neglect), substance abuse as coping (i.e., self-medication hypothesis), mental health problems (i.e., comorbid depression and anxiety), and biological vulnerability and

changes due to substance use. Lifestyle factors identified by the authors included environment, impaired decision-making, and revictimization. In terms of sociological factors, the authors incorporated poverty, cultural norms, family environment, and assortative mating patterns (i.e., choosing partners with similar problems). Finally, contextual factors included structural barriers, psychological barriers, and relationship dynamics.

Agrawal et al. (2005) investigated 26 risk factors for the development of substance abuse and/or dependence in adult female-female twins (monozygotic and dizygotic). These risk factors were classified into various sub-headings including socio-demographic factors, religiosity measures, personality measures, childhood risk factors, and psychiatric illness. Participants in the study were female same-sex twins recruited from an ongoing longitudinal study on risk factors and drug use. The study was conducted in four separate waves of interviews and follow-ups. The same-sex twins selected for the study were interviewed and given a self-report questionnaire that measured personality traits during the first wave of interviews. Follow-up interviews collected information regarding socio-demographic risk factors, level of religiosity, and parental warmth. In addition, Axis I psychiatric disorders and lifetime use of an illicit drug were also included as part of the study. Risk factors that were most positively correlated with drug abuse/dependence included history of divorce, novelty-seeking, extraversion and altruism, childhood sexual abuse, and development of psychiatric disorders such as depression and anxiety. It is important to note that the specific causal relationships between risk factors and drug use were not examined in this study as the measures used in the study were not repeated at follow-up. Also, all of the participants in the study were Caucasian limiting the generalizability of the findings to a specific demographic.

A prospective study conducted by Measelle, Stice, and Hogansen (2006) sought to examine the developmental trajectory of depression, eating disorder, antisocial, and substance abuse symptoms in a community sample of female adolescents. Results suggested that increases in each individual symptom domain were associated with increases in all the others. In other words, initial depressive symptoms at early adolescence were predictive of increased eating disorder and substance abuse symptoms at later adolescence. These results support the hypothesis that women may use substances to self-medicate negative affective states, suggesting an internalizing pathway to substance abuse.

Another prospective study sought to examine the relationship between aggression, social withdrawal, and likeability in childhood, and substance use disorders in adulthood (Martin-Storey et al., 2011). Participants in the study were 676 individuals from the original Concordia Project, who were recruited as children in elementary school (grades 1,4, or 7) in 1976-78, and agreed to participate in a detailed follow-up regarding mental health and general health in adulthood (ages 28-40). During the initial phase of the study, the children participated in a behavioral screen that assessed peer and self-perceptions of aggression, social withdrawal, and likeability. The follow-up, in which participants were now adults, consisted of a structured clinical interview that assessed for history of drug and alcohol abuse and dependence. Results suggested that higher levels of both self- and peer-reported aggression were associated with higher levels of substance use disorders in women, supporting an externalizing pathway for later substance abuse. In addition, higher self-perceived likeability was a protective factor against development of substance use disorders.

Hussong and colleagues (2011) proposed two different pathways for the development of substance use disorders: an internalizing pathway and an externalizing pathway. The

externalizing pathway posits that problems begin to appear early in children with difficult temperament and behavioral problems (i.e., aggressive acting-out). These individuals often experiment with drugs and/or alcohol at an early age and exhibit antisocial behavior. This pathway emphasizes a combination of genetic factors (i.e., proclivity towards behavioral disinhibition) and a high-risk environment (i.e., poverty, inadequate parenting, lack of social support). On the other hand, an internalizing pathway emphasizes the role of negative affect and internalizing symptoms in the development of substance use disorders. From this perspective, problems arise in children who are behaviorally inhibited and have difficulty adjusting socially. As a result, these individuals tend to experience increased levels of social rejection and respond by withdrawing and using substances as a means of coping.

Several studies have examined the role of trauma and other factors as predictors of substance use disorders in women. A longitudinal study by Gilbert et al. (2012) examined the association between substance abuse and intimate partner violence (IPV) in women. The participants in the study were a representative sample of 241 low-income women receiving emergency care in an urban setting. Results suggested that women who reported using heroin in the past 6 months were twice as likely as non-heroin-using women to report IPV of any form (i.e., physical or sexual) at subsequent follow-up. In addition, women who reported crack cocaine use in the past 6 months were almost 3 times as likely to report an injury due to IPV. Sexual IPV was also strongly associated with continued crack cocaine use during follow-up visits. Related, Asberg and Renk (2012) found that substance abuse was a significant predictor of incarceration among survivors of childhood sexual abuse (CSA), and that incarcerated survivors had experienced more severe CSA and psychological problems and endorsed more problems with family functioning compared to higher functioning survivors (i.e., college students).

Overall, the research provides support for externalizing and internalizing pathways to the development of substance abuse disorders in general, and specifically for women. Research suggests that temperament along with environmental and social factors, history of trauma, IPV, and CSA are associated with the development of substance abuse disorders in women, as well as depression and anxiety disorders, which are frequently comorbid conditions. Pre-existing internalizing and externalizing disorders (e.g., depression, anxiety, personality disorders) are risk factors for substance abuse. Studies also suggest that the combination of trauma, substance abuse, and comorbid psychopathology are associated with incarceration and legal problems.

It is important to note that results of many of the studies are limited due to lack of inclusion of women from minority backgrounds, or ethnicity of the participants was not specified or examined. Although one study of women from diverse ethnic backgrounds found that ethnicity did not moderate the relationship between psychosocial risk factors and substance abuse disorders (i.e., Myers et al., 2009), all of the women in the study came from similar low SES backgrounds. Minority women have a higher rate of poverty compared to Caucasian women, putting them at increased risk for experiencing a variety of psychosocial stressors.

**Substance abuse in minority women**. The higher incidence of maltreatment and witnessing domestic violence experienced by minority children compared to majority children (e.g., Roberts et al., 2011) may also be a factor in increased rate of alcohol and other substance use disorders among minority women. Minority women are also more likely to use drugs and alcohol to cope with life stressors, which in turn may lead to other problems. Minority women may self-medicate with drugs and alcohol as a way of coping with abusive partners and difficult living conditions (Logan, Walker, Cole, & Leukefeld, 2002).

In a study employing both quantitative and qualitative data (Curtis-Boles & Jenkins-Monroe, 2000), African American women with substance abuse histories (N = 30) were compared to non-abusing African American women (N = 30). The women were assessed on a number of dimensions including childhood trauma (i.e., parental substance abuse and childhood abuse), spirituality, social support, trauma exposure and significant losses, and racism/discrimination. Results of the study suggested that although all women reported exposure to high level of violence and personal losses, African-American women with substance abuse histories were significantly more likely to experience domestic violence, homelessness, and other traumatic events.

Amaro et al. (2005) sought to study racial/ethnic differences in social vulnerability among women with co-occurring mental health and substance use disorders. The participants of this study were 2,534 women enrolled in the Women, Co-occurring Disorders, and Violence Study (WCDVS), sponsored by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration. The sample was comprised of Hispanics (19.6%), non-Hispanic Blacks/African-Americans (28.6%), and non-Hispanic Whites (51.7%). With respect to major substance problem, Hispanics (21.5%) identified heroin as the major problem more often than Whites (17.3%) or Blacks (12.4%). In contrast, Blacks (47.9%) reported crack/cocaine was a major problem more often than all other racial groups.

Boyd et al. (2009) examined predictors of alcohol and drug problems (Boyd et al., 2009) in a sample of 142 African-American women. The women were assessed using a diagnostic instrument and alcohol and drug abuse screeners. Several predictors were also measured including stressors and positive events, coping, beliefs about alcohol, childhood and adult violence, and self-esteem. Forty-three percent (N = 61) of the women in the sample met criteria

for an alcohol or drug use disorder. The best predictors for alcohol abuse were beliefs about alcohol use and having experienced violence whereas self-esteem predicted drug abuse.

Myers et al. (2009) sought to determine the contributions of psychosocial risk factors such as trauma, chronic stress, depression, anxiety, social support, and social undermining (i.e., social conflict or negative social interactions) in predicting alcohol and drug abuse in a sample of low SES women from diverse ethnic backgrounds. The study also sought to determine whether ethnicity moderated the relationship between these psychosocial risk factors and alcohol and drug dependence. The sample consisted of a total of 288 HIV-positive and HIV-negative women self-identified as African American (N = 122), European American (N = 119), or Latina (N = 122) 47). Results suggested that greater drug dependence was associated with being HIV+, less depression, and higher perceived chronic burden. Meanwhile, alcohol dependence was associated with more depression and more social undermining. Another important finding was that ethnicity appeared to moderate the relationship between social support and risk for alcohol dependence. In other words, the relationship between social support and development of substance use disorder was influenced by ethnicity. Furthermore, the effects of chronic social and interpersonal stress were mediated by elevated levels of depression, such that depressed women were more likely to be drug and alcohol dependent. Interestingly, ethnicity did not appear to be a factor in predicting alcohol and drug dependence, as the effects were not different across ethnic groups. The results of this study are particularly relevant to the proposed study because of the similarity of the samples and the focus on trauma and life events as predictors of later psychopathology.

# **Issues Specific to Minority Women**

Ethnic minority women face specific challenges that cannot be overstated. Unlike women from more privileged backgrounds, minority women, particularly those from the inner-city, are exposed to many environmental stressors that are unique to their experience including high rates of poverty, unemployment, violence, abuse and trauma. There are also some unique factors that contribute to the development of mental disorders in minority women, particularly racism and racial discrimination. These factors have an immeasurable influence in shaping the environment and socio-cultural milieu of minority women. In addition to the effects on employment and housing opportunities, racism contributes to the development of mental disorders by negatively affecting self-image and self-confidence (A.P.A., 2006). According to the position statement by the American Psychiatric Association, racism is also a primary factor in the racial disparity in mental health treatment (A.P.A., 2006).

Minority women also face increased exposure to trauma, particularly interpersonal violence. For example, Hien and Bukszpan (1999) investigated the rates of interpersonal violence and trauma in a sample of 98 urban, minority women. These women were considered to be part of a control group of a larger study of violence and substance abuse, as they were screened for the absence of any current Axis I psychiatric disorders. Results of the study suggested that minority women from the inner-city were much more likely to experience childhood sexual and physical abuse and trauma compared to the general population. Although none of the women met criteria for any current Axis I psychiatric disorders, the women in this group were more likely to experience trauma (10-20%) and nearly 25% met diagnostic criteria for lifetime or history of PTSD.

Similarly, in a study on the racial/ethnic differences in exposure to traumatic events, African-Americans and Hispanics had higher rates of child maltreatment and were more likely to witness domestic violence in the household compared to their White counterparts. African-Americans were also found to have the highest prevalence rates of PTSD at 8.7%. Further, all minority groups were less likely to receive trauma-specific treatment (Roberts et al., 2011). Although these findings were not specific to minority women per se, results are illustrative of the unique challenges faced by individuals from ethnic minorities as a whole.

Minority women are also more vulnerable to HIV/AIDS infection. According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2001), African Americans and Hispanics accounted for more than 75% of AIDS cases in females, despite representing only 25% of women in the United States. Minority women may be further marginalized if they are HIV positive or living with AIDS, contributing to the development of psychopathology.

Myers et al. (1999) assessed the prevalence of psychiatric disorders among African-American men and women living with HIV/AIDS. While only 9% of African American women met criteria for a panic disorder within the past year, the overall prevalence of PTSD symptoms among the same group of African American women was significantly greater at 50%. In addition, 21% of the African-American women met criteria for major depression. The results of the study were significant in several ways. The prevalence rates of anxiety and depression in this population were significantly greater than those in epidemiological studies of the community atlarge, suggesting that African-American women living with HIV/AIDS are at greater risk of developing psychiatric disorders. The study also suggested that socioeconomic factors (i.e., low income and limited education) as well as limited social support were the two most important risk factors associated with psychiatric risk within this population of African-American women. A

study by Catz, Gore-Felton, and McClure (2002) also found that minority women receiving treatment for HIV had higher levels of depression and anxiety relative to the community at large. Factors associated with these increased levels of psychopathology included higher levels of stress, fewer coping strategies, and less social support.

In addition, numerous studies have shown that minority women underutilize mental health treatment services due to a host of psychosocial stressors including inadequate health care, lack of childcare or transportation, as well as negative perceptions of health care services and preferences for primary care or other sources of support (e.g., Carrington, 2006; Cutrona et al., 2005; Das et al., 2006; Jackson, 2006; Seng et al., 2011). These barriers to treatment often lead ethnic minority women to defer seeking help for psychological distress until overwhelmed by stress and experiencing serious problems in their lives.

Overall, this review suggests that there are many factors that are predictive of psychopathology in minority women, including increased exposure to trauma and IPV, limited social support, low socioeconomic status, and living in economically disadvantaged and socially disorganized neighborhoods. There is a lack of necessary resources in these low SES communities such as transportation, child care, and police protection from crime. Minority women have higher rates of HIV and comorbid mental and physical conditions that increase the prevalence of mental health disorders. Moreover, minority women also underutilize services and are often under-diagnosed and under-treated due to a variety of factors, such as the barriers noted above, as well as insufficient healthcare and attitudes towards mental health treatment. Finally, minority women also face racial discrimination and oppression which have innumerable psychosocial and environmental consequences that cannot be overstated. However, the present

study will not focus on racial discrimination as a predictor of psychopathology in minority women.

### **The Present Study**

The above studies examined predictors of depression, anxiety disorders, personality disorders, and substance use disorders in women; however, none of the studies examined antecedents of both internalizing and externalizing psychopathology in minority women. It is apparent from the above review that many etiological factors contribute to the development of these psychopathologies in women, and that they cannot be viewed in isolation. Further, the psychopathologies represented interact with each other, acting as predisposing factors or different pathways to the development of adult psychopathologies. Thus, the purpose of the present research was to examine factors that are predictive of the development of internalizing and externalizing psychopathology in women. Moreover, the present study focused on the unique factors that contribute to the development of these disorders in minority women, as this is an area that has been neglected in the previous studies, and many of the studies did not include any minority women in their samples.

The present research sought to construct a comprehensive model of psychopathology in minority women using archival data that were collected as part of a longitudinal study of interpersonal violence in four samples of inner city women (i.e., women diagnosed with cocaine abuse, women diagnosed with depression, women with a dual diagnosis, and women with no history of depression or substance abuse) seen in treatment centers at a major hospital in New York City. The samples included women with a broad range of internalizing psychopathology (depression and anxiety) and externalizing psychopathology (antisocial personality disorder and substance use disorders) that were assessed using a structured diagnostic interview.

Retrospective data were collected on childhood history of abuse, trauma and adverse events, as well as early onset of psychopathology and treatment, and family psychopathology, that served as the focus of the present study. Additional data were collected on family environment, including parenting behaviors, coping styles, personality characteristics, social support, victimization in current relationships and partner violence, perpetration of violence and criminal arrest records that were not considered in the present study. The data were collected as part of a funded study that sought to examine psychopathology and psychosocial predictors of domestic abuse and perpetration of domestic violence. The present study used a correlational design, both logistic regression and multiple regression, to examine predictors of internalizing and externalizing psychopathology in inner city minority women, with the goal of developing a comprehensive model of developmental psychopathology in this population.

# Hypotheses

Based on the review of the literature, the following hypotheses were proposed for this study:

- Physical/emotional abuse and sexual abuse experienced during childhood and/or adolescence (i.e., prior to age 18) would be predictive of both internalizing disorders (i.e., depression and anxiety) and externalizing disorders (i.e., antisocial personality and substance abuse/dependence) in adult women (i.e., age 18 and older).
- Exposure to other trauma (i.e., witness of domestic violence, other traumatic events), during childhood and/or adolescence would be predictive of both internalizing and externalizing disorders in adult women.

- Early onset of internalizing disorders (i.e., depression or anxiety during childhood and/or adolescence) would be predictive of internalizing disorders (i.e., depression or anxiety) in adult women.
- 4. Early onset of externalizing disorders (i.e., drug or alcohol abuse during childhood and/or adolescence) would be predictive of externalizing disorders (i.e., drug or alcohol abuse or antisocial personality disorder) in adult women.
- Family history of psychiatric problems (i.e., severe depression, psychiatric hospitalizations, and suicide) would be predictive of internalizing disorders in adult women.
- 6. Family history of substance use disorders (i.e., alcoholism and drug abuse) would be predictive of externalizing disorders in adult women.
- 7. There would be a significant difference based on ethnicity in terms of physical abuse, sexual abuse, and other trauma experienced during childhood or adolescence, with African-American and Hispanic women exposed to a greater incidence of abuse and/or other trauma compared to Caucasian women.
- 8. Ethnicity would moderate the relationship between specific predictor variables (i.e., history of physical abuse, sexual abuse, or other trauma experienced during childhood or adolescence; childhood or adolescent internalizing or externalizing disorders; family history of psychiatric or substance use disorders) and the outcome variables (i.e., current diagnosis of internalizing or externalizing disorder). Specifically, it was predicted that the relationship between trauma, abuse, and the other childhood and family psychopathology predictors would be stronger for African American and Hispanic women than for Caucasian women.

9. Treatment history would moderate the relationship between early onset psychopathology and psychopathology during adulthood. However, a more specific hypothesis was not proposed, as it was unclear whether early treatment would be preventative in the development of adult psychopathology or would serve as a marker of more severe early onset psychopathology.

### CHAPTER 2

### Method

# Design

The current study employed a retrospective correlational design utilizing a portion of the archival data that were previously collected as part of a larger longitudinal study investigating predictors of interpersonal violence in a sample of inner-city women. The original study was supported by a grant from the National Institute on Drug Abuse, and the data were collected over the course of 5 years (1994-1999). The present study examined childhood/adolescent and family risk factors as predictors of internalizing and externalizing psychopathology in adulthood. The independent variables included self-report measures of childhood/adolescent physical abuse, sexual abuse, general trauma, and psychopathology, as well as family history of psychopathology. The primary dependent variable was adult DSM-IV diagnoses based on a semi-structured interview. A secondary independent variable was current level of depression, as another measure of internalizing psychopathology. In addition, the role of patient race/ethnicity was examined to determine if it moderated the relationship between the early risk factors and the diagnosis of psychopathology in adulthood. Another potential moderating variable was child/adolescent treatment history.

#### **Participants**

The present study used an archival data set from a larger, longitudinal study investigating predictors of interpersonal violence in a sample of inner-city women. The participants in the

original longitudinal study were 338 women presenting for treatment at one of several settings within a major urban hospital system: psychiatric outpatient clinic, psychiatric inpatient unit, substance abuse outpatient clinic, inpatient detoxification unit, and outpatient gynecology/family planning clinic. The study divided the women into four subgroups based on a structured diagnostic interview: 1) women with comorbid depression and cocaine abuse; 2) women with cocaine abuse and no history of major depression or dysthymia; 3) women with major depression or dysthymia and no history of substance abuse; and 4) women with no history of depression or substance use disorders.

The inclusion criteria for the original longitudinal study for the women with depression and/or cocaine use disorders included the following: 1) willingness to participate; 2) having a mailing address or family contact person; 3) being between the ages of 18 and 45; and 4) having positive prescreens for lifetime depression or cocaine use. The women in the control group also met criteria 1, 2 and 3, but were excluded if they were found to have any history of lifetime psychiatric disorder or history of lifetime substance use disorder. Exclusion criteria for all groups included a clear history of severe organic symptomatology and active AIDS (patients who were HIV+ were not excluded). In addition, women with serious medical or chronic diseases were excluded from the study.

The population served by this hospital system is almost exclusively composed of ethnic/racial minorities, as approximately 80% of the patients are from either African-American or Hispanic background. In addition, a large percentage of the patients served by this institution live at or below the poverty level. Therefore, these women are a representative sample of minority women from the lowest socioeconomic status. As mentioned previously, minority

women from low income background are particularly susceptible to negative life events, violent trauma, depression, and substance abuse.

The participants in the present study were the women who participated in the original longitudinal study with sufficient data for the variables of interest in the present study. Initially, the data were examined for outliers (i.e., more than 2 standard deviations from the mean) and excessive missing data (i.e., more than 20% missing data for the variables of interest or missing data for the primary outcome variable - current diagnosis based on the structured interview). No participants were outliers on the variables of interest. Five participants were eliminated due to excessive missing data. These participants were missing nearly all of the data across the variables in the study.

The final sample consisted of 333 participants. Table 1 contains frequencies and percentages for participant demographic information. All of the participants in the study were women, and the majority of the participants were from ethnic minority backgrounds (i.e., Black and Hispanic). For the purposes of this study, the 11 ethnic groups reported in the original study (various biracial and multiracial combinations) were re-categorized according to the participant's self-identified primary ethnic identification. The participants were generally fairly young (M = 33.54 years, SD = 8.62), and most were either single (never married) or separated/divorced. Level of education was approximately equally divided between partial high school, high school degree, and some college. The most frequently reported highest level of occupation was clerical or sales work followed by semi-skilled positions.

### Measures

A large number of measures were administered as part of the comprehensive longitudinal study. The purpose of the current study was to identify factors during childhood

that are predictive of the development of internalizing and externalizing psychopathology in adulthood. To this end, the measures and variables used were selected from among those used in the original study that would appropriately test the hypotheses. The predictors included childhood/adolescent physical abuse, sexual abuse, and trauma; early onset psychopathology and treatment; as well as family history of psychopathology. Diagnoses indicative of internalizing (i.e., depression and anxiety disorders) and externalizing psychopathology (i.e., substance abuse and antisocial personality disorder) in adulthood were used as outcome variables. The present study utilized demographic, diagnostic and symptom measures collected during the screening phase (Phase I) and retrospective data on childhood trauma collected during the initial baseline assessment (Phase IIA). Longitudinal prospective data (Phase IIB) and follow-up assessment data (Phase III) were not included. See Procedures for further information on the phases of the study. The following measures were selected from the database for use in the present study (see the Appendix for copies of the measures).

Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-III-R- Substance Abuse Comorbidity (SCID-SAC). The SCID-SAC (Spitzer, Williams, Gibbon, & First, 1993; revised by Nunes et al., 1996) is a modified version of the SCID developed for detection of mood and anxiety disorders among substance abusers and vice-versa, based on lifetime history. It is a semistructured clinical interview that is used to evaluate Axis I disorders and differential diagnoses. The following modules were used in the original study: Depression (i.e., Major Depressive Disorder), Dysthymia, PTSD, Other Diagnoses (i.e., Antisocial Personality Disorder), Alcohol Dependence/Abuse, Cocaine Dependence/Abuse, Crack Dependence/Abuse, and Lifetime Drug Dependence/Abuse (other than crack/cocaine). The scores from the SCID summary sheet entered into the database included lifetime diagnoses, diagnoses in the past six months, current

diagnoses, as well as age of onset and severity for each. Nunes et al. (1996) found the measure has good inter-rater reliability (K = 0.74 within major depression; K = 0.67 within any depressive syndrome; and K = 0.43 within panic disorder) in a study evaluating 31 methadone maintenance patients.

For the purposes of this study, current diagnoses of depressive disorders, PTSD and other anxiety disorders, antisocial personality disorder, alcohol dependence/abuse, and other substance dependence/abuse were used for the outcome measures. However, for the diagnosis of substance use disorders, it was necessary to include dependence in the past 6 months as well as current regular use with or without dependence, because the DSM-IV uses a one-year time frame for diagnosis of substance use disorders. Therefore, the prevalence of these diagnoses might have actually been higher, as those women who met criteria for a substance use disorder during the first 6 months of the year, but not the last 6 months, would not have been identified. Also, dysthymic disorder is assessed for the past 6 months on the SCID-SAC, rather than 2 years as defined in the DSM-IV. As a result, the prevalence might be overestimated as some women may not have experienced symptoms for at least 2 years. Current diagnosis is a categorical variable that was coded dichotomously in the present study (i.e., presence/absence of a depressive disorder; presence/absence of an anxiety disorder; presence/absence of a substance use disorder; presence/absence of antisocial personality disorder). In addition, the internalizing disorders (i.e., depression and anxiety) were combined to create a superordinate variable (i.e., presence/absence of an internalizing disorder), and the externalizing disorders (i.e., substance use disorder and antisocial personality disorder) were combined to create a superordinate variable (i.e., presence/absence of an externalizing disorder).

Early onset of these same diagnoses served as predictor variables in the study. The lifetime diagnoses and age of onset variables were used to establish whether each of these diagnoses were present during childhood and/or adolescence (i.e., before 18). These predictor variables were also coded as dichotomous categorical variables (i.e., presence/absence of a depressive disorder before age 18; presence/absence of an anxiety disorder before age 18; presence/absence of a substance use disorder before age 18; presence/absence of an internalizing disorder before age 18; presence/absence of an externalizing disorder before age 18). Note that the interview did not assess for antisocial personality disorder (or conduct disorder) before age 18.

Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDRS). The HDRS (Hamilton, 1960) is a widely used clinician rating scale to assess clinical depression, including severity and the presence of specific symptoms (e.g., depressed mood, sleep disturbance, changes in appetite). It is often considered the "gold standard" for the assessment of depression (Bagby, Ryder, Schuller & Marshall, 2004). A review of the literature by Bagby et al. (2004) suggested that the scale has adequate internal consistency, convergent validity and discriminant validity overall. However, content validity is poor, as a number of the items do not contribute to the measurement of depression severity, and/or have poor test-retest or inter-rater reliability. Similarly, based on a meta-analysis of the literature from 1960-2008, López-Piña, Sánchez-Meca, and Rosa-Alcázar (2009) concluded that the HDRS has good internal consistency, inter-rater and test–retest reliability overall, although the reliability of some individual items is unsatisfactory. Nevertheless, the HRDS is the most commonly used measure of depression (Bagby et al., 2004). The HDRS score is a continuous measure of severity of depression symptoms, with scores ranging from 0 to 3 for each item. Several modifications of the original scale have been

developed with varying numbers of items. The 21 item and 25 item versions were both used in the original longitudinal study to assess depressive symptomatology to complement the diagnostic information obtained from the SCID-SAC. For the more commonly used 21 item version, total scores range from 0-63, with higher scores indicating more severe levels of depression. Only the total scores were available in the database. For the purposes of the present study, the total score for the 21 item version was used as a secondary outcome measure of internalizing psychopathology (i.e., depression symptom severity).

**Trauma Life History.** The Trauma Life History (Hien & Scheier, 1996) is an 8-item interview-based inventory used to assess the degree to which participants have been exposed to a number of traumatic experiences. The interviewer asks a series of dichotomous, yes/no questions (e.g., Have you ever witnessed a murder or mutilation?) followed by questions regarding the number of times the traumatic events have occurred during the past 6 months and over the course of lifetime. In addition, the participant is asked for their age at the time of the traumatic event. There is no information available on the validity and reliability of this measure due to its limited use. There is no summary score but individual items identify the presence of each of the traumatic events across the lifespan. For the present study, a total score (number of traumatic events experienced during childhood or adolescence. Thus, the total score is a continuous measure that ranges from 0 to 8, with higher scores indicating a greater number of traumatic experiences. The total score on the Trauma Life History was used as a predictor variable.

**Childhood Sexual Abuse Interview (CSAI)**. The CSAI (modified from Finkelhor, 1979 and Sgroi, 1982) is an 11-item interview that evaluates the history of specific sexual experiences prior to the age of 18. Sexual abuse is defined by experiences ranging from an invitation to do

something sexual, to sexually-oriented touching and intercourse. There are 6 follow-up questions for any items that were reported as having occurred. The CSAI is scored as the total number of items that were endorsed. The CSAI was modified by Hien and Bukszpan (1999) to incorporate three subscales that are generated by summing scores of individual items: exposure (e.g., invitation or person showing genitals), touching (e.g., manual or oral sexual touching), and penetration (e.g., intercourse or penetration). For the purposes of this study, the total summary score was used as a measure of childhood sexual abuse. Scores on the individual items were evaluated to determine internal consistency of the scale. The CSAI is a continuous measure with a range of scores from 0 to 11, with higher scores indicating a greater incidence of sexual abuse. It was used as a predictor of psychopathology in adulthood.

**Childhood Trauma Questionnaire (CTQ).** The CTQ (Bernstein, Fink, Handelsman, & Foote, 1994) is a 23-item self-report scale that assesses the frequency of experiences of physical and emotional abuse during childhood (i.e., prior to age 18). This interview-based measure prompts the participant to answer a series of questions on a Likert-type scale of 1-5, with 1 indicating 'never true' and 5 'very often true.' If a participant answers any question in the affirmative, follow up questions are asked to screen for abuse as well as PTSD. The CTQ is scored by summing the responses to each item and arriving at a total sum score of childhood trauma. Among patients in treatment for substance abuse, the CTQ demonstrated high internal consistency and good test-retest reliability over a 2-6 month period (Bernstein et al., 1994). For the purposes of this study, the total (summary) score was used as a measure of childhood physical and emotional trauma. Scores on the individual items were evaluated to determine internal consistency of the scale. The individual items on the CTQ demonstrated high internal consistency ( $\alpha = .95$ ). The CTQ is a continuous measure with a range of scores from 23 to 115,

with higher scores indicating greater incidence of physical/emotional abuse. The total score was used as a predictor of psychopathology in adulthood.

**Demographic and Treatment History Form.** The Demographic and Treatment History Form (Hien & Zimberg, 1991) is a self-report measure designed to elicit basic demographic and life history information, as well as treatment history and family history. The form also includes a second part that obtains information on sexuality and reproductive health. For the purposes of this study, the following items were used: demographic variables (i.e., age, ethnicity, marital status, education, occupation), psychiatric treatment history, substance abuse treatment history, and family history of psychopathology. The information on sexuality and reproductive health was not used in the current study. Demographic variables were used for descriptive purposes and to categorize participants by ethnicity, which is a predictor. Psychiatric treatment history and substance abuse treatment history were coded as dichotomous categorical variables (i.e., presence/absence of treatment for depression or internalizing psychopathology prior to age 18; presence/absence of treatment for substance abuse prior to age 18). Both of these variables were used as a potential moderator of the relationship between early-onset psychopathology and psychopathology during adulthood. The information on family history was used to determine the presence of psychopathology in the family, including both internalizing and externalizing disorders. These variables were also coded as dichotomous categorical variables (i.e., presence/absence of family history of psychiatric disorder; presence/absence of family history of substance abuse). Family history of psychiatric disorder and family history of substance abuse were used as predictors of adult psychopathology.

## Procedure

As mentioned previously, the data used for this study were part of a larger, longitudinal study investigating predictors of interpersonal violence in a sample of inner-city women. All of the data were collected by psychology graduate students who were previously trained to administer the assessments. The data collection in the study consisted of three distinct phases that included: screening and diagnosis (Phase I); collection of descriptive data, retrospective data, and prospective data (Phase II-A and Phase II-B); and 6 month follow-up (Phase III). A selected set of measures from Phase I and Phase IIA were used for the present study. None of the longitudinal or follow-up data were examined. The phases in the original longitudinal study are detailed below.

During Phase I, participants in the study were screened from one of several substance abuse, psychiatric, or gynecological clinics located within a major urban hospital system. The women were given a battery of diagnostic assessments, including the SCID-SAC, HDRS, demographic questionnaire, and drug use questionnaire. Based on the Phase I diagnostic interviews, the women were then divided into four groups: comorbid depressed cocaine abusers; cocaine abusers with no history of depression or dysthymia; depressed women with no history of substance abuse; and women with no history of depression or substance use disorders.

The aim of Phase II-A was to collect retrospective data from participants in regards to child/adolescent and adult trauma and interpersonal violence and to compare the prevalence of interpersonal violence among the four groups. A variety of measures were used to determine childhood and diagnostic factors that were associated with violent behaviors. The measures used during this phase included those designed to evaluate the potential/history of parent-to-child violence in adults, partner-to-partner violence, victimization, and parenting styles, as well as

overall violence and criminal records. The Trauma Life History, CSAI, and CTQ were also administered during this phase of the study.

Phase II-B was the longitudinal, prospective part of the study in which several diagnostic, psychosocial, and family/environmental factors were assessed using self-report measures. The purpose of this phase of the study was to determine the factors most predictive of violent behaviors in the four groups. Measures used in this phase included those designed to evaluate strategies used to manage stressful events, personality characteristics, family adaptability and cohesion, and social support. It should be noted that Phase II-A and II-B were conducted at baseline on two separate visits. Phase III was the follow-up conducted 6 months after baseline. During this phase of the study, several measures were repeated in an attempt to evaluate the reliability and validity of the instruments, particularly those that were self-reported diagnostic assessments. The SCID-SAC, HDRS, and all of the other measures that were initially completed during Phase I and II were among the measures repeated during this final phase of the study.

The entire de-identified database was made available for secondary analysis for the present study. As noted above, only a selected set of measures administered during the initial assessment phases (Phase I and Phase IIA) were used for the present study. Prior to any analyses, the database was reduced from over 900 variables to the variables of interest in the current study. The predictor variables included: childhood or adolescent physical abuse, sexual abuse, and exposure to trauma; childhood or adolescent psychopathology and treatment; family history of psychopathology; and race/ethnicity. The outcome variables included: current diagnosis of internalizing and externalizing disorders in adulthood; current depression as a secondary measure of internalizing psychopathology.

#### CHAPTER 3

# Results

Descriptive statistics, including the means, standard deviations, and frequencies, were calculated for the information on the demographic questionnaire, each of the independent variables, and the dependent variables. For the primary hypotheses, correlations and logistic regression analyses were conducted to examine the predictive value of each independent variable for adult psychopathology (i.e., current internalizing or externalizing disorder). All of the independent variables were included in the logistic regression to examine their unique variance in predicting adult internalizing psychopathology or externalizing psychopathology, as well as the total variance explained by the predictors. Race/ethnicity was included in the regression analysis in a second step to determine whether it moderated the relationship between the predictors and adult psychopathology. Treatment history prior to adulthood was also included in the regressions in a second step to determine whether it moderated the relationship between the predictors and adult psychopathology. Between-group analyses (MANOVA) were conducted in order to determine if there were differences in childhood trauma and abuse based on race/ethnicity.

# **Descriptive Statistics**

Table 2 presents current diagnoses of internalizing and externalizing psychopathology for the participants. Diagnoses were based on the current SCID-SAC diagnosis. However, for the diagnosis of substance use disorders, it was necessary to include dependence in the past 6 months as well as current regular use with or without dependence, because the DSM-IV uses a one-year time frame for diagnosis of substance use disorders. Therefore, the prevalence of these diagnoses might have actually been higher, as those women who met criteria for a substance use disorder during the first 6 months of the year but not the last 6 months would not have been identified. Also, dysthymic disorder is assessed for the past 6 months on the SCID-SAC, rather than 2 years as defined in the DSM-IV. As a result, the prevalence might be overestimated as some women may not have experienced symptoms for at least 2 years. Current diagnoses were examined individually and by diagnostic group (i.e., depressive disorders, anxiety disorders, substance use disorders, antisocial personality disorder). Substance use disorders were grouped into alcohol use disorders and other substance use disorders. Finally, the current diagnoses were categorized into four groups: internalizing disorders (i.e., anxiety and depression), externalizing disorders (i.e., substance abuse and antisocial personality disorder), comorbid internalizing and externalizing disorders, and no diagnosis. As seen in Table 2, the most frequent diagnoses included major depression, post-traumatic stress disorder, and other substance use disorder. More than half of the sample had comorbid internalizing and externalizing disorder diagnoses, and only a quarter of the sample did not have a current diagnosis.

Table 3A presents the means and standard deviations for the three trauma and abuse scales. The total number of reported types of childhood/adolescent general trauma and sexual abuse were relatively low; for each, participants reported an average of about two incidents out of a possible eight types of general trauma and eleven types of sexual abuse. For physical and emotional abuse, participants were moderately low in terms of overall frequency of the different types of abuse.

Table 3B presents the frequency and percent of participants who reported childhood/adolescent general trauma by total number of items endorsed on the Trauma Life History scale. Table 3B indicates that approximately 86% of the participants experienced at least one type of childhood/adolescent general trauma, with the majority of the participants reporting 1-3 traumatic experiences, and 12% reporting 4 or more traumatic experiences.

Table 3C presents the frequencies and percentages of participants that reported childhood/adolescent physical and emotional abuse. For the purposes of this study, physical abuse was considered to have occurred if the participant endorsed item #15 (i.e., "I believe that I was physically abused") on the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire with a rating of 3 ("Sometimes True"), 4 ("Often True"), or 5 ("Very Often True"). Emotional abuse was considered to have occurred if the participant endorsed item #22 (i.e., "I believe that I was emotionally abused") with a rating of 3 or greater. Table 3C indicates that over a quarter of the sample believed they had been physically abused as a child and/or adolescent, and nearly forty percent of the sample believed they had been emotionally abused.

Table 3D presents the frequency and percentage of participants who reported childhood/adolescent sexual abuse by the total number of items endorsed on the Childhood Sexual Abuse Inventory. Table 3D indicates that approximately 43% of participants endorsed at least one instance of sexual abuse during childhood or adolescence. Most of these participants endorsed multiple experiences of sexual abuse and one participant endorsed all of the items.

Table 4 presents frequency data for the categorical predictors. Onset of psychopathology in childhood or adolescence was determined through SCID-SAC lifetime diagnoses with onset prior to age 18. For the purposes of these analyses, childhood psychopathology was grouped into two categories: childhood internalizing psychopathology and substance use disorders. Antisocial

personality disorder was not diagnosed under 18 and conduct disorder and other externalizing psychopathology in childhood was not assessed by the SCID-SAC. About one-third of the sample had childhood onset of internalizing disorders but only one-fifth reported childhood substance use. Family history of psychiatric problems, family history of substance use disorders, and childhood history of treatment were based on self-report on the demographic questionnaire. About half of the sample had a family history of psychiatric problems and more than half had a family history of substance abuse problems. Few participants in the sample had a history of childhood treatment for psychological problems and there were very few instances of treatment for substance abuse prior to age 18.

# Correlations

Table 5 present the correlations between the predictor variables. Significant correlations were found between almost all of the predictor variables. Note that higher values represent the presence of trauma for the three trauma/abuse scales, whereas the presence of childhood/adolescent psychopathology, family psychopathology, and childhood/adolescent treatment was reverse-coded in the data base (i.e., 1 = present, 2 = absent). As expected, the three trauma variables were negatively correlated with the other predictor variables. Childhood general trauma, physical/emotional abuse, and sexual abuse were all significantly correlated with each other. The most highly correlated variables were childhood internalizing disorders and childhood physical abuse (r = -.525). The predictors that were not correlated were family history of psychiatric problems and childhood general trauma (r = -.050), and family history of psychiatric problems and childhood general trauma (r = -.058) or childhood sexual abuse was not correlated with either childhood general trauma (r = -.058) or childhood sexual abuse

(r = -.080). None of the predictors were redundant (i.e., highly correlated) and there was no evidence of multicollinearity.

Table 6 presents the correlations between the predictor variables and the criterion variables. All of the predictors were significantly correlated with current internalizing disorder. The variable that was most highly correlated with internalizing psychopathology was childhood physical/emotional abuse (r = -.436). Many of the predictor variables were significantly correlated with current externalizing disorder. However, childhood internalizing disorders (r = .016), family history of psychiatric problems (r = -.044), childhood history of treatment for psychological problems (r = .023), and childhood history of treatment for substance abuse (r = .093) were not related to current externalizing disorder. Childhood substance abuse was most highly correlated with the presence of an adult externalizing disorder (r = .528). All of the predictor variables were significantly correlated with the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDRS). The variable that was most highly correlated with the HDRS was childhood physical/emotional abuse (r = .409).

# **Multivariate Analyses**

Multivariate analyses were used to determine whether a current diagnosis of internalizing or externalizing psychopathology was predicted by childhood/adolescent exposure to general trauma, physical/emotional abuse, or sexual abuse. Additional predictors included a history of childhood internalizing disorders, childhood externalizing psychopathology (i.e., diagnosis of a substance use disorder before age 18), family history of psychiatric disorders, and family history of substance use disorders. A second step in the regressions added participant ethnicity and childhood history of treatment for internalizing psychopathology and externalizing psychopathology (i.e., substance use) to examine whether these variables moderated the

relationship between the predictor variables and the current diagnoses. Multiple regression was used to examine the predictive value of the same variables for current level of depression (i.e., HDRS score).

**Logistic Regression**. Logistic regression was used to determine which factors during childhood were most predictive of current internalizing and externalizing psychopathology. Separate analyses were conducted for prediction of internalizing psychopathology and externalizing psychopathology. The tables provide the  $\beta$  coefficients, the Wald statistic, associated degrees of freedom, and level of significance for each of the predictor variables.

Table 7 presents the results for prediction of internalizing psychopathology. The model successfully predicted current internalizing disorders ( $\chi^2 = 76.462$ ; df = 7, p < .001), and accounted for between 22.4% and 30.3% of the variance (Cox and Snell *R* Square = .224; Negelkerke *R* Square = .303). Childhood or adolescent physical/emotional abuse, exposure to general trauma, and history of an internalizing disorder were all strong predictors of current internalizing psychopathology. The model correctly predicted a current internalizing disorder 72.4% of the time, which represented an improvement over a model in which none of the predictors were used (i.e., base rate = 60.1%).

A second step added participant ethnicity as a predictor of current adult internalizing psychopathology. When participant ethnicity was added, the model successfully predicted current internalizing disorders ( $\chi^2 = 76.518$ ; df = 8, p < .001), and accounted for between 22.4% and 30.4% of the variance (Cox and Snell *R* Square = .224; Negelkerke *R* Square = .303). The overall model correctly predicted current internalizing disorders 72.4% of the time, which did not represent a change from the first step. Participant ethnicity was not a significant predictor and

did not increase the accuracy of prediction. There also were no changes in the predictive value of childhood/adolescent trauma, physical abuse or childhood history of an internalizing disorder.

When childhood/adolescent treatment of internalizing psychopathology and treatment of externalizing psychopathology were added in the second step, the model successfully predicted current internalizing disorders ( $\chi^2 = 76.931$ ; df = 9, p < .001), and accounted for between 22.6% and 30.5% of the variance (Cox and Snell *R* Square = .226; Negelkerke *R* Square = .305). The overall model correctly predicted current internalizing disorders 71.8% of the time. Childhood treatment of internalizing psychopathology and treatment of externalizing psychopathology were not significant predictors and did not increase the accuracy of prediction nor modify the predictive value of the significant predictors in the first step.

The next logistic regression examined predictors of externalizing psychopathology (see Table 8). The model successfully predicted a current externalizing disorder ( $\chi^2 = 118.379$ ; df = 7, p < .001), and accounted for between 32.3% and 46.2% of the variance (Cox and Snell *R* Square = .323; Negelkerke *R* Square = .462). Childhood/adolescent general trauma was a significant predictor of current externalizing disorders, but physical abuse and sexual abuse were not significant. Childhood/adolescent internalizing psychopathology, externalizing (substance abuse) psychopathology, and a family history of substance use disorders were significant predictors of a current externalizing disorder. The model correctly predicted a current externalizing disorder 81.5% of the time, which represented an improvement over a model in which none of the predictors was used (i.e., base rate = 71.0%).

When participant ethnicity was added in the second step, the model remained significant in predicting a current externalizing disorder ( $\chi^2 = 118.802$ ; df = 8, p < .001), and accounted for between 32.4% and 46.3% of the variance (Cox and Snell *R* Square = .324; Negelkerke *R* Square
= .463) The overall model correctly predicted current externalizing disorders 81.8% of the time. Ethnicity was not a significant predictor of externalizing psychopathology and its inclusion in the model resulted in little change in the significant predictors or the accuracy of the model. When childhood/adolescent treatment of psychological disorders and treatment of substance use disorders were added as a second step, the model was successful in predicting a current externalizing disorder ( $\chi^2 = 120.920$ ; df = 9, p < .001), and accounted for between 32.9% and 47.0% of the variance (Cox and Snell *R* Square = .329; Negelkerke *R* Square = .470). The overall model predicted a current externalizing disorder 82.2% of the time. Neither childhood treatment variable was a significant predictor of externalizing psychopathology. The addition of these variables to the model generally had little effect on the predictive value of the model or the other variables. Early onset of an internalizing disorder was slightly less strong of a predictor of adult externalizing psychopathology when the childhood treatment variables were considered.

**Multiple Regression**. Linear regression was used to determine which factors were most predictive of the Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDRS) score, a secondary outcome measure of current internalizing psychopathology (i.e., depression). As in the logistic regression, the predictors included childhood/adolescent exposure to general trauma, physical/emotional abuse, and sexual abuse, early onset internalizing psychopathology and externalizing psychopathology (i.e., substance abuse), and family history of psychiatric disorder and substance use disorders. Participant ethnicity and childhood treatment for psychiatric problems and substance abuse were added in a second step to determine their predictive value in the regression. Table 9 presents the results for prediction of HDRS scores. Childhood physical/emotional abuse (p < .001) and exposure to general trauma (p = .005) were both strong predictors of HDRS scores. None of the other variables were significant predictors of HDRS scores.

# **Between Groups Analyses**

A MANOVA was conducted for participant ethnicity and the trauma and abuse scales in order to test the hypothesis that ethnic minority participants would have histories of more childhood physical/emotional abuse, sexual abuse, and exposure to trauma compared to other participants (see Table 10). There were significant differences between the ethnic groups for both childhood general trauma and childhood physical/emotional abuse. *Post-hoc* analyses (Bonferoni) indicated that African-American participants reported a significantly greater incidence of childhood general trauma and physical/emotional abuse compared to Hispanic participants. There were no significant differences between groups with respect to childhood sexual abuse.

#### **CHAPTER 4**

#### Discussion

The current study used data from a larger, longitudinal study investigating predictors of interpersonal violence in a sample of inner-city women. Over 900 variables were made available and reduced to the variables of interest for secondary analysis. The present study examined predictors of current internalizing and externalizing disorders diagnosed by a structured diagnostic interview. The predictors included childhood or adolescent onset of these disorders, based on the structured interview, and self-report measures of: childhood or adolescent general trauma, physical/emotional abuse, sexual abuse, treatment for psychological problems or substance use; and family history of psychiatric problems or substance abuse. The study was unique in that the sample consisted of mostly minority women, a group greatly under-represented in the research literature. In addition, the study examined childhood/adolescence and familial predictors of both internalizing and externalizing disorders in adulthood, whereas most previous research has focused on a more limited domain of psychopathology.

The women in the sample were predominantly from ethnic minority backgrounds. There were high levels of current internalizing and externalizing disorders, as well as comorbid internalizing and externalizing disorder diagnoses. Although the average frequency of childhood or adolescence trauma, physical/emotional abuse, and sexual abuse was low, nearly all experienced at least one type of trauma or abuse. Early-onset psychopathology was present in a sizable minority of the participants, but few participants reported receiving treatment during

childhood or adolescence. About half of the sample reported a family history of psychiatric problems or substance abuse. Thus, the women in the sample reported a number of factors that have been found to be associated with adult psychopathology.

The first two hypotheses stated that physical/emotional abuse, sexual abuse and other trauma during childhood or adolescence would be predictive of current internalizing and externalizing disorders. These hypotheses were partially supported in that general trauma and physical/emotional abuse were predictive of internalizing disorders, whereas only general trauma was predictive of externalizing disorders. These findings are consistent with previous studies suggesting the enormous impact of childhood physical/emotional abuse and exposure to trauma on the development of adult psychopathology (Cortina & Kubiak, 2006; Fletcher, 2009; Gil-Rivas, Prause, & Grella, 2009; Halbreich, 2003; MacMillan et al., 2001; Paris, 2001). On the other hand, sexual abuse was not predictive of either internalizing or externalizing disorders. This may be explained by the lower rates of sexual abuse in the sample relative to trauma and physical/emotional abuse. However, it should be noted that the reported prevalence of abuse in this sample was quite high compared to national norms, particularly for sexual abuse. According to national data collected in 2011 on child abuse and neglect reported in the United States, 17.6% of children suffered physical abuse and 9.1% suffered sexual abuse ("Child Maltreatment," 2012). The National Comorbidity Survey (Sachs-Ericsson et al., 2005) found that 9.5% of participants reported a history of childhood abuse, with 2.8% reporting physical abuse and 5.3% reporting sexual abuse. The findings in the present study may also suggest that although general trauma and physical/emotional abuse have some significant predictive value, other childhood factors (i.e., early-onset psychopathology) and familial factors may also play a significant role in the development of adult psychopathology.

The next set of hypotheses proposed that early onset of internalizing disorders (i.e., anxiety and depression) and early onset of externalizing disorders (i.e., substance use) would be predictive of these same disorders in adulthood, respectively. The hypotheses were partly supported. The presence of an internalizing disorder prior to 18 predicted current internalizing and current externalizing psychopathology, whereas a childhood or adolescent externalizing disorder only predicted a current externalizing disorder. Results of this study were consistent with previous findings that early onset of psychopathology is predictive of adult psychopathology, but not with previous findings of multiple pathways to the development of internalizing and externalizing disorders. For example, Kendler et al. (2002) found that depression in women can result from internalizing or externalizing pathways, and Hussong et al. (2011) proposed internalizing and externalizing pathways for the development of substance use disorders. One possible explanation for the present findings is that early-onset externalizing disorder was measured narrowly and only considered substance use disorders, not conduct disorder, oppositional defiant disorder, or other externalizing disorders. In addition, other factors, such as childhood/adolescent trauma, family psychopathology, or environmental factors may have a greater impact on adult psychopathology, obscuring the influence of other predictors.

It was also hypothesized that family history of psychiatric problems and substance abuse would be predictive of internalizing and externalizing disorders in adulthood. These hypotheses were partially supported in that family history of substance abuse was found to be a strong predictor of current externalizing disorders. However, a family history of psychiatric problems was not predictive of adult internalizing disorders. Results are partly consistent with previous findings that genetic and familial factors play a significant role in the development of psychopathology (e.g., Jang et al., 2005; Kreek et al., 2005; Saveneau & Nemeroff, 2012;

Smoller et al., 2009; South & DeYoung, 2012). However, there may be other factors that had a stronger influence in the present study (i.e., trauma and abuse, early onset psychopathology). Moreover, there were important limitations in the measurement of the family history variables. In the present study, the categories were broad and based on several items on the self-report questionnaire, whereas the previous research used structured diagnostic interviews of family members to assess specific diagnostic categories.

The Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDRS) was used as a secondary measure of current internalizing psychopathology. Similar to the results for prediction of an internalizing disorder, childhood/adolescent trauma and physical/emotional abuse were significant predictors of the HDRS score. However, onset of an internalizing disorder in childhood or adolescence was not significant. One reason that results may differ is that the HDRS is a measure of current distress and dysphoric mood and is not specific to a diagnostic category. Previous diagnoses in childhood/adolescence or in the family would not be expected to directly correspond with the score.

The next two hypotheses proposed that there would be significantly more childhood and adolescent trauma and abuse for the minority women than the Caucasian women, and that race/ethnicity would moderate the relationship between the predictors and adult psychopathology. Due to the small number of Caucasian women in the sample, comparisons between majority and minority women were not possible. Instead, between group analyses were conducted with four ethnic groups (i.e., African American, Hispanic, Caucasian, Other). There was a significant effect for ethnicity for trauma and physical/emotional abuse; *post-hoc* analyses indicated that African-Americans reported a higher number of traumatic events and incidents of physical/emotional abuse compared to Hispanic women. Results are consistent with previous

findings of higher rates of childhood/adolescent trauma and abuse in ethnic minorities, particularly African women (Carrington, 2006; Hien and Bukszpan, 1999; Logan, Walker, Cole, & Leukefeld, 2002; Roberts et al., 2011; Seng et al., 2011). However, ethnicity was not a significant predictor of internalizing or externalizing psychopathology and it did not moderate the relationships between the other predictors and current psychopathology. It is possible that race/ethnicity was not a significant predictor because it was correlated with the other risk factors (i.e., higher levels of exposure to trauma and abuse in African American women) so that it did not contribute any unique variance. In addition, most of the literature has addressed differences between minority (primarily African American) and majority (Caucasian) women and there were only a small number of Caucasian women in the present study. Moreover, all of the women in the present study sought treatment at a hospital in the inner city that serves women from low socio-economic backgrounds. Regardless of ethnicity, it is likely that the women were exposed to similar negative life events and a lack of resources.

The final hypothesis proposed that childhood/adolescent treatment history would moderate the relationship between early onset psychopathology and development of adult psychopathology. Results indicated that childhood/adolescent treatment history for psychological problems or substance use problems were not significant predictors of current psychopathology and did not act as moderators. One explanation is that early treatment may have failed to adequately address the pathology and therefore had little influence on adult psychopathology. In addition, the number of women who reported childhood or adolescent treatment was very low, minimizing its value as a predictor. This finding is consistent with the literature that individuals from minority and low socioeconomic backgrounds are underserved and often fail to receive

adequate mental health treatment or any treatment at all (Carrington, 2006; Cutrona et al., 2005; Das et al., 2006; Jackson, 2006; Seng et al., 2011).

## Limitations

The current study has a number of limitations. Most importantly, the data were crosssectional, self-report and retrospective, making them susceptible to response biases and unreliable recall of information from participants' childhood. Additionally, the participants were all patients at one particular hospital in an urban setting and the data were collected nearly 20 years ago. The results of the study may not be generalizable to other settings, non-urban locales, or other parts of the country. It should also be noted that majority of the participants were of African-American or Hispanic background and only women were included in the samples. Therefore, results are limited to the experience of this particular group of women. Finally, the study used a correlational design. Therefore, a causal relationship between the predictors and outcome variables cannot be established.

Additional methodological limitations noted above include the low number of majority women, which precluded comparisons between majority and minority women, and reducing the 11 biracial and multiracial groups in the database to 4 groups based on their reported primary ethnic identification, as described in the Methods. Although it was necessary to collapse the groups to have sufficient power to conduct the analyses, this may have obscured findings with regard to ethnicity as there may be differences between biracial and multiracial individuals and those from a single racial background. Moreover, even with the smaller number of groups, there were not enough Caucasian participants to adequately test differences between Caucasians and the other ethnic groups (i.e., Hispanics and African Americans).

The lack of stringent criteria for measuring the family history variables was noted above. Most research examining family history utilizes structured diagnostic interviews for family members as well as probands. Although current and childhood/adolescent diagnoses were determined by a structured diagnostic interview with good reliability and validity, the assessment of externalizing disorders was narrow and included only substance use disorders and antisocial personality disorder in adulthood, and only substance use disorders prior to 18. The absence of data on other common externalizing disorders in childhood and adolescence (e.g., conduct disorder, oppositional defiant disorder) may have limited the usefulness of the early onset externalizing disorders variable. Also, as noted in the Methods, the structured interview assessed symptoms of dysthymic disorder for the past 6 months, whereas the DSM-IV requires symptoms to be present for at least 2 years for dysthymic disorder, which might have resulted in an overestimation of this diagnosis in the study. Substance use disorders were also assessed for the past 6 months, yet a diagnosis of a substance use disorder can be assigned if the symptoms are manifested at any time during the past year, suggesting the possibility of under-diagnosis of the these disorders in the sample. Moreover, the present study collapsed diagnostic categories within the depressive disorders, anxiety disorders, and substance use disorders, which may have obscured diagnosis-specific relationships.

Finally, the role of comorbidity was not examined; women with comorbid psychopathology were combined with those with only internalizing or only externalizing psychopathology in the analyses since separate analyses were conducted for prediction of internalizing psychopathology and externalizing psychopathology. There may be some unique factors that predict comorbid disorders. For example, women may use substances and develop substance use disorders in an effort to provide relief from depression, anxiety, or other

internalizing psychiatric conditions (Khantzian, 2003; Suh et al., 2008), as well as to cope with difficult environmental conditions (i.e., poverty and unemployment) and/or interpersonal violence and trauma (Haller & Chassin, 2012).

# Strengths

One of the strengths of the study is that the population studied is a unique sample of women that are not ordinarily captured in the research literature. These women are from lowincome neighborhoods and are often exposed to trauma to a greater degree than the average female participants in research (Hien & Bukszpan, 1999; Roberts et al., 2011). In addition, the current study focused on the antecedents of both internalizing and externalizing psychopathology concurrently. Previous studies have focused on either internalizing or externalizing disorders separately (e.g., Agrawal et al., 2005; Joyce et al., 2003; Kendler et al., 2002). Moreover, the current study examined the predictors simultaneously using regression analyses, which allowed examination of the unique variance contributed by each of the predictors. This design is advantageous given the complex histories that contribute to the development of internalizing and externalizing is advantageous given the complex histories that contribute to the development of internalizing and externalizing and externalizing and externalizing and externalizing and externalizing and externalizing antologies (Eaton et al., 2012).

Another strength of this study is that current and early onset psychopathology were determined using a structured diagnostic interview (i.e., SCID-SAC). The advantage of using a structured diagnostic interview is that a more reliable and accurate diagnosis can be ascertained. The sample showed a high rate of diagnoses and there was a good balance between internalizing disorders, externalizing disorders, and no diagnosis. The other variables also showed a good range of scores, so that there were no concerns of restricted range. Although the data were collected over 20 years ago, the study used DSM-IV criteria. Although the DSM-5 was published this year (A.P.A., 2013), nearly all current research is based on the DSM-IV. It is also likely that

the issues faced by minority women (i.e., trauma, abuse, low SES) at the time the data were originally collected are still relevant today.

# Implications

Given that the first sets of hypotheses were mostly supported, results suggest that similar factors contribute to the development of internalizing and externalizing psychopathology in minority women as in other research samples that are mainly comprised of Caucasian women. Thus, efforts at prevention and early intervention may target these same risk factors identified in other research. However, results from studies with other samples may not generalize to these women, and future research may need to look for other factors that contribute to psychopathology in this group. Moreover, findings of differences based on race/ethnicity suggest the need for efforts to reduce the level of trauma and abuse experienced by minority children and adolescents, especially African-Americans, and for research to include more diverse samples. Inclusion of minorities, and expansion of efforts to recruit them in research, is likely to increase participation in treatments and interventions that are aimed at prevention in these communities as well as improve overall outcomes. Greater inclusion would also serve to reduce suspicion among women within communities that have experienced racism and discrimination from treatment providers.

Minority women from the inner city represent a group of individuals who are in greater need of treatment services compared to women from more privileged social and economic backgrounds. The results of this present study offer insights into the struggles these women face and provide potential clues into the areas for intervention. For example, nearly all of the women experienced childhood or adolescent trauma and abuse and these were significant predictors of adult psychopathology. Although a sizable minority met criteria for internalizing or externalizing

disorders prior to 18, very few of the women received mental health and/or substance abuse treatment at an early age. It is important to provide minority women with information regarding the impact of the social environment on their mental health and to make resources available to address these issues. It is also important for minority women, especially those from the inner city, to feel empowered and demand better treatment options in their local communities. As part of these efforts, it is essential to address the barriers to seeking treatment faced by these women, such as inadequate transportation and childcare, and negative perceptions of health care services (i.e., Carrington, 2006; Cutrona et al., 2005; Das et al., 2006; Jackson, 2006; Seng et al., 2011). In addition, future research should focus on developing culturally appropriate treatments and intervention strategies that increase the likelihood of positive outcomes in disadvantaged communities that lack the resources necessary to participate and flourish in the broader society.

# **Future Directions**

The present study attempted to build a model for the development of psychopathology in minority women. To this end, the study focused on the factors during childhood and adolescence that contribute to the development of internalizing and externalizing disorders in adulthood. Although results of the study supported findings that trauma and abuse are significant predictors of adult psychopathology, further research is needed to parse out the biopsychosocial determinants that lead to psychopathology in women. Also, more research is needed to explore interventions that may be effective in breaking the cycle of trauma and abuse that contributes to the development of psychopathology.

Although the present study focused on several predictors of psychopathology in women, there are a number of other variables that were not considered that might be directions for future research. Factors such as family environment, SES, comorbid psychopathology, and racism and

discrimination all play a role in the diathesis-stress model of psychopathology. A prospective, longitudinal study following a sample of women along a developmental trajectory from infancy through childhood/adolescence and into adulthood would be ideal. This kind of study would use structured interviews for diagnosis of family members and use external validators (e.g., police reports of abuse and trauma) to provide support for the validity of the self-report measures. Also, a wider range of diagnoses would be considered as well as comorbid conditions. Although this kind of longitudinal prospective study would be a very ambitious undertaking, the potential benefits of the study would ultimately offset the costs as a more comprehensive developmental model of psychopathology for minority women would serve to guide efforts at prevention and treatment.

#### REFERENCES

- Agrawal, A., Gardner, C. O., Prescott, C. A., & Kendler, K. S. (2005). The differential impact of risk factors on illicit drug involvement in females. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 40(6), 454-466. doi:10.1007/s00127-005-0907-0
- Alves Apóstolo, J., Figueiredo, M., Mendes, A., & Rodrigues, M. (2011). Depression, anxiety and stress in primary health care users. *Revista Latino-Americana de Enfermagem, 19*(2), 348-353. doi:10.1590/S0104-11692011000200017
- Amaro, H., Larson, M., Gampel, J., Richardson, E., Savage, A., & Wagler, D. (2005).
  Racial/Ethnic differences in social vulnerability among women with co-occurring mental health and substance abuse disorders: Implications for treatment services. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 33(4), 495-511. doi:10.1002/jcop.20065
- American Psychiatric Association. (1994). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4<sup>th</sup> ed.). Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (4<sup>th</sup> ed., text rev.). Washington, DC: Author.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed). Washington, DC: Author.

- American Psychiatric Association (2006). American Psychiatric Association Position Statement: Resolution against racism and racial discrimination and their adverse impacts on mental health. Retrieved from: http://www.psychiatry.org/practice/professionalinterests/diversityomna/diversity-resources/apa-position-statements-related-to-diversity.
- Angold, A., Costello, E. J., & Worthman, C. M. (1998). Puberty and depression: The roles of age, pubertal status and pubertal timing. *Psychological Medicine*, 28(1), 51-61.
  doi:10.1017/S003329179700593X
- Angold, A., Costello, E. J., Erkanli, A. A., & Worthman, C. M. (1999). Pubertal changes in hormone levels and depression in girls. *Psychological Medicine*, *29*(5), 1043-1053. doi:10.1017/S0033291799008946
- Asberg, K., & Renk, K. (2012). Substance use coping as a mediator of the relationship between trauma symptoms and substance use consequences among incarcerated females with childhood sexual abuse histories. *Substance Use & Misuse, 47*(7), 799-808. doi:10.3109/10826084.2012.669446
- Astbury, J. (2001). Gender disparities in mental health. In *Ministerial Round Tables* (pp. 73-92). Geneva: World Health Organization.
- Bagby, R., Ryder, A. G., Schuller, D. R., & Marshall, M. B. (2004). The Hamilton Depression
  Rating Scale: Has the gold standard become a lead weight? *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 161(12), 2163-2177. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.161.12.2163
- Baker, J. H., Maes, H. H., & Kendler, K. S. (2012). Shared environmental contributions to substance use. *Behavior Genetics*, 42(3), 345-353. doi:10.1007/s10519-011-9516-8
- Bebbington, P. (1996). The origins of sex differences in depressive disorder: Bridging the gap. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 8(4), 295-332. doi:10.3109/09540269609051547

- Bernstein, D. P., Fink, L., Handelsman, L., & Foote, J. (1994). Initial reliability and validity of a new retrospective measure of child abuse and neglect. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 151(8), 1132-1136.
- Bijl, R. V., Ravelli, A. A., & van Zessen, G. G. (1998). Prevalence of psychiatric disorder in the general population: Results of the Netherlands Mental Health Survey and Incidence Study (NEMESIS). *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *33*(12), 587-595. doi:10.1007/s001270050098
- Blau, F. D., & Kahn, L. M. (2006). The U.S. gender pay gap in the 1990s: Slowing convergence. *Industrial and Labor Relations Review*, 60, 45–66.
- Blau, F. D., & Kahn, L. M. (2007). The gender pay gap: Have women gone as far as they can? *Academy of Management Perspectives*, *21*, 7–23.
- Bloch, M., Schmidt, P. J., Danaceau, M., Murphy, J., Nieman, L., & Rubinow, D. R. (2000).
   Effects of gonadal steroids in women with a history of postpartum depression. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *157*(6), 924-930. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.157.6.924
- Boyd, M., Berger, K., Baliko, B., & Tavakoli, A. (2009). Predictors of alcohol and drug problems in rural African American women. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 30(6), 383-391. doi:10.1080/01612840802509478
- Brown, C., Abe-Kim, J. S., & Barrio, C. (2003). Depression in ethnically diverse women: Implications for treatment in primary care settings. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice*, 34(1), 10-19. doi:10.1037/0735-7028.34.1.10
- Carrington, C. H. (2006). Clinical depression in African American women: Diagnoses, treatment, and research. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 62(7), 779-791. doi:10.1002/jclp.20289

- Catz, S. L., Gore-Felton, C., & McClure, J. B. (2002). Psychological distress among minority and low-income women living with HIV. *Behavioral Medicine*, 28(2), 53-59. doi:10.1080/08964280209596398
- Cooley, E. L., Van Buren, A., & Cole, S. P. (2010). Attachment styles, social skills, and depression in college women. *Journal of College Counseling*, *13*(1), 50-62. doi:10.1002/j.2161-1882.2010.tb00047.x
- Cortina, L. M., & Kubiak, S. (2006). Gender and posttraumatic stress: Sexual violence as an explanation for women's increased risk. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *115*(4), 753-759. doi:10.1037/0021-843X.115.4.753
- Curtis-Boles, H., & Jenkins-Monroe, V. (2000). Substance abuse in African American women. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 26(4), 450-469.
  doi:10.1177/0095798400026004007
- Cutrona, C. E., Russell, D. W., Brown, P., Clark, L., Hessling, R. M., & Gardner, K. A. (2005).
  Neighborhood context, personality, and stressful life events as predictors of depression among African American women. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *114*(1), 3-15. doi:10.1037/0021-843X.114.1.3
- Dailey, D. E., & Humphreys, J. C. (2011). Social stressors associated with antepartum depressive symptoms in low-income African American women. *Public Health Nursing*, 28(3), 203-212. doi:10.1111/j.1525-1446.2010.00912.x
- Das, A., Olfson, M., McCurtis, H., & Weissman, M. (2006). Depression in African Americans:
  Breaking barriers to detection and treatment. *The Journal of Family Practice*, 55(1), 30-39.

- Davis, R. G., Ressler, K. J., Schwartz, A. C., Stephens, K., & Bradley, R. G. (2008). Treatment barriers for low-income, urban African Americans with undiagnosed posttraumatic stress disorder. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 21(2), 218-222. doi:10.1002/jts.20313
- Diaz, M. A., Le, H., Cooper, B. A., & Muñoz, R. F. (2007). Interpersonal factors and perinatal depressive symptomatology in a low-income Latina sample. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 13(4), 328-336. doi:10.1037/1099-9809.13.4.328
- Dick, D. M., & Kendler, K. S. (2012). The impact of gene-environment interaction on alcohol use disorders. *Alcohol Research: Current Reviews*, *34*(3), 318-324.
- Eaton, N. R., Keyes, K. M., Krueger, R. F., Balsis, S., Skodol, A. E., Markon, K. E., & ... Hasin, D. S. (2012). An invariant dimensional liability model of gender differences in mental disorder prevalence: Evidence from a national sample. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *121*(1), 282-288. doi:10.1037/a0024780
- Fedovskiy, K. K., Higgins, S. S., & Paranjape, A. A. (2008). Intimate partner violence: How does it impact major depressive disorder and post traumatic stress disorder among immigrant Latinas? *Journal of Immigrant and Minority Health*, *10*(1), 45-51. doi:10.1007/s10903-007-9049-7
- Feerick, M. M., & Snow, K. L. (2005). The relationships between childhood sexual abuse, social anxiety, and symptoms of posttraumatic stress disorder in women. *Journal of Family Violence, 20*(6), 409-419. doi:10.1007/s10896-005-7802-z
- Feingold, A. (1994). Gender differences in personality: A meta-analysis. *Psychological Bulletin*, 116(3), 429-456. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.116.3.429

Field, T., Diego, M., Hernandez-Reif, M., Schanberg, S., Kuhn, C., Yando, R., & Bendell, D. (2003). Pregnancy anxiety and comorbid depression and anger: Effects on the fetus and neonate. *Depression and Anxiety*, 17(3), 140-151. doi:10.1002/da.10071

Finkelhor, D. (1979). Sexually victimized children. New York: The Free Press.

- First, M. B., Spitzer, R. L., Gibbon, M., & Williams, J. B. W. (1997). Structured clinical interview for DSM-IV Axis I disorders. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Fletcher, J. M. (2009). Childhood mistreatment and adolescent and young adult depression. *Social Science & Medicine*, 68(5), 799-806. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.12.005
- Fox, J. A., & Kim-Godwin, Y. (2011). Stress and depression among Latina women in rural southeastern North Carolina. *Journal of Community Health Nursing*, 28(4), 223-232. doi:10.1080/07370016.2011.614861
- Freudenberg, N. (2002). Adverse effects of US jail and prison policies on the health and wellbeing of women of color. *American Journal of Public Health*, 92(12), 1895-1899. doi:10.2105/AJPH.92.12.1895
- Gadalla, T. M. (2008a). Gender differences in poverty rates after marital dissolution: A longitudinal study. *Journal of Divorce & Remarriage, 49*(3-4), 225-238.
  doi:10.1080/10502550802222493
- Gadalla, T. M. (2008b). Psychiatric comorbidity in eating disorders: A comparison of men and women. *Journal of Men's Health*, *5*(3), 209-217. doi:10.1016/j.jomh.2008.06.033

Gilbert, L., El-Bassel, N., Chang, M., Wu, E., & Roy, L. (2012). Substance use and partner violence among urban women seeking emergency care. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 26(2), 226-235. doi:10.1037/a0025869

- Gil-Rivas, V., Prause, J., & Grella, C. E. (2009). Substance use after residential treatment among individuals with co-occurring disorders: The role of anxiety/depressive symptoms and trauma exposure. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors, 23*(2), 303-314. doi:10.1037/a0015355
- Golding, J. M. (1999). Intimate partner violence as a risk factor for mental disorders: A metaanalysis. *Journal of Family Violence*, *14*(2), 99-132. doi:10.1023/A:1022079418229

Grant, B. F., Hasin, D. S., Stinson, F. S., Dawson, D. A., Chou, S., Ruan, W., & Pickering, R. P.
(2004). Prevalence, correlates, and disability of personality disorders in the United States:
Results from the National Epidemiologic Survey on Alcohol and Related
Conditions. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 65(7), 948-958. doi:10.4088/JCP.v65n0711

- Grella, C. E., Karno, M. P., Warda, U. S., Niv, N., & Moore, A. A. (2009). Gender and comorbidity among individuals with opioid use disorders in the NESARC study. *Addictive Behaviors*, *34*(6-7), 498-504. doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2009.01.002
- Halbreich, U. (2003). Anxiety disorders in women: A developmental and lifecycle perspective. *Depression and Anxiety*, *17*(3), 107-110. doi:10.1002/da.10108

Haller, M., & Chassin, L. (2012). The influence of PTSD symptoms on alcohol and drug problems: Internalizing and externalizing pathways. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1037/a0029335

Hamilton, M. (1960). A rating scale for depression. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 2356-61.

Hankin, B. L., & Abramson, L. Y. (2001). Development of gender differences in depression: An elaborated cognitive vulnerability–transactional stress theory. *Psychological Bulletin*, 127(6), 773-796. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.127.6.773

Hearon, B. A., Calkins, A. W., Halperin, D. M., McHugh, R., Murray, H. W., & Otto, M. W.
(2011). Anxiety sensitivity and illicit sedative use among opiate-dependent women and men. *The American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, *37*(1), 43-47. doi:10.3109/00952990.2010.535581

- Herr, N. R., Hammen, C., & Brennan, P. A. (2007). Current and past depression as predictors of family functioning: A comparison of men and women in a community sample. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 21(4), 694-702. doi:10.1037/0893-3200.21.4.694
- Hicks, B. M., & Patrick, C. J. (2006). Psychopathy and negative emotionality: Analyses of suppressor effects reveal distinct relations with emotional distress, fearfulness, and angerhostility. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *115*(2), 276-287. doi:10.1037/0021-843X.115.2.276
- Hicks, B. M., Vaidyanathan, U., & Patrick, C. J. (2010). Validating female psychopathy subtypes: Differences in personality, antisocial and violent behavior, substance abuse, trauma, and mental health. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment, 1*(1), 38-57. doi:10.1037/a0018135
- Hien, D. A., & Zimberg, S. (1991). Demographic and Treatment History Form. Unpublished scale. MICA Project, St. Luke's-Roosevelt Hospital Center, New York, NY.
- Hien, D., & Bukszpan, C. (1999). Interpersonal violence in a 'normal' low-income control group. Women & Health, 29(4), 1-16. doi:10.1300/J013v29n04 01

Hien, D., & Scheier, J. (1996). Trauma and short-term outcome for women in detoxification. *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*, *13*(3), 227-231. doi:10.1016/S0740-5472(96)00048-7

- Huckert, T., & Krampen, G. (2010). Empirical test of an integrative model explaining higher prevalence of subclinical depression in women: A normative sex-role orientation approach. *Journal of Applied Biobehavioral Research*, *15*(3), 144-160. doi:10.1111/j.1751-9861.2010.00058.x
- Hussong, A. M., Jones, D. J., Stein, G. L., Baucom, D. H., & Boeding, S. (2011). An internalizing pathway to alcohol use and disorder. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 25(3), 390-404. doi:10.1037/a0024519
- Hyde, J., Mezulis, A. H., & Abramson, L. Y. (2008). The ABCs of depression: Integrating affective, biological, and cognitive models to explain the emergence of the gender difference in depression. *Psychological Review*, *115*(2), 291-313. doi:10.1037/0033-295X.115.2.291
- Jane, J., Oltmanns, T. F., South, S. C., & Turkheimer, E. (2007). Gender bias in diagnostic criteria for personality disorders: An item response theory analysis. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *116*(1), 166-175. doi:10.1037/0021-843X.116.1.166
- Jang, K. L., Dick, D. M., Wolf, H., Livesley, W., & Paris, J. (2005). Psychosocial adversity and emotional instability: An application of gene-environment interaction models. *European Journal of Personality*, 19(4), 359-372. doi:10.1002/per.561

Joyce, P. R., McKenzie, J. M., Luty, S. E., Mulder, R. T., Carter, J. D., Sullivan, P. F., & Cloninger, C. (2003). Temperament, childhood environment and psychopathology as risk factors for avoidant and borderline personality disorders. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 37(6), 756-764. doi:10.1111/j.1440-1614.2003.01263.x

- Kahler, C. W., Ramsey, S. E., Read, J. P., & Brown, R. A. (2002). Substance-induced and independent major depressive disorder in treatment-seeking alcoholics: Associations with dysfunctional attitudes and coping. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 63(3), 363-371.
- Kasen, S., Cohen, P., Skodol, A. E., Johnson, J. G., & Brook, J. S. (1999). Influence of child and adolescent psychiatric disorders on young adult personality disorder. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 156(10), 1529-1535.
- Kendler, K. S., Gardner, C. O., & Prescott, C. A. (2002). Toward a comprehensive developmental model for major depression in women. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 159(7), 1133-1145. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.159.7.1133
- Kendler, K. S., Gardner, C. O., Neale, M. C., & Prescott, C. A. (2001). Genetic risk factors for major depression in men and women: Similar or different heritabilities and same or partly distinct genes? *Psychological Medicine*, *31*(4), 605-616. doi:10.1017/S0033291701003907
- Kessler, R. C., Berglund, P., Demler, O., Jin, R., Koretz, D., Merikangas, K. R., ... Wang, P. S. (2003). The epidemiology of major depressive disorder: Results from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication (NCS-R). *JAMA: Journal of the American Medical Association, 289*(23), 3095-3105. doi:10.1001/jama.289.23.3095

Kessler, R. C., Brandenburg, N., Lane, M., Roy-Byrne, P., Stang, P. D., Stein, D. J., & Wittchen, H. (2005). Rethinking the duration requirement for generalized anxiety disorder:
Evidence from the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Psychological Medicine*, *35*(7), 1073-1082. doi:10.1017/S0033291705004538

- Kessler, R. C., McGonagle, K. A., Swartz, M., & Blazer, D. G. (1993). Sex and depression in the National Comorbidity Survey I: Lifetime prevalence, chronicity and recurrence. *Journal* of Affective Disorders, 29(2-3), 85-96. doi:10.1016/0165-0327(93)90026-G
- Kessler, R. C., McGonagle, K. A., Zhao, S., & Nelson, C. B. (1994). Lifetime and 12-month prevalence of DSM-III—R psychiatric disorders in the United States: Results from the National Comorbidity Study. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *51*(1), 8-19. doi:10.1001/archpsyc.1994.03950010008002
- Kessler, R. C., Stein, M. B., & Berglund, P. (1998). Social phobia subtypes in the National Comorbidity Survey. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 155(5), 613-619.
- Khantzian, E. J. (2003). Understanding addictive vulnerability: An evolving psychodynamic perspective. *Neuro-Psychoanalysis*, *5*(1), 5-21.
- Kilpatrick, D. G., Acierno, R., Resnick, H. S., Saunders, B. E., & Best, C. L. (1997). A 2-year longitudinal analysis of the relationships between violent assault and substance use in women. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *65*(5), 834-847. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.65.5.834
- Kohn, R., Dohrenwend, B. P., & Mirotznik, J. (1998). Epidemiological findings on selected psychiatric disorders in the general population. In B. P. Dohrenwend (Ed.), Adversity, stress, and psychopathology (pp. 235-284). New York, NY US: Oxford University Press.

Kreek, M., Nielsen, D. A., Butelman, E. R., & LaForge, K. (2005). Genetic influences on impulsivity, risk taking, stress responsivity and vulnerability to drug abuse and addiction. *Nature Neuroscience*, 8(11), 1450-1457. doi:10.1038/nn1583

Kuehner, C. C. (2003). Gender differences in unipolar depression: An update of epidemiological findings and possible explanations. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *108*(3), 163-174. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0447.2003.00204.x

 Lam, R. W. (2006). Challenges in the treatment of anxiety disorders: Beyond guidelines. *International Journal of Psychiatry in Clinical Practice*, 10(Suppl3), 18-24. doi:10.1080/13651500600933851

- Lau, J. F., & Eley, T. C. (2010). The genetics of mood disorders. Annual Review of Clinical Psychology, 6, 313-337. doi:10.1146/annurev.clinpsy.121208.131308
- Lenzenweger, M. F., Lane, M. C., Loranger, A. W., & Kessler, R. C. (2007). DSM-IV personality disorders in the national comorbidity survey replication. *Biological Psychiatry*, 62(6), 553-564. doi:10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.09.019
- Logan, T. K., Walker, R., Cole, J., & Leukefeld, C. (2002). Victimization and substance abuse among women: Contributing factors, interventions, and implications. *Review of General Psychology*, 6(4), 325-397. doi:10.1037/1089-2680.6.4.325

Lopez, C. R., Antoni, M. H., Fekete, E. M., & Penedo, F. J. (2012). Ethnic identity and perceived stress in HIV+ minority women: The role of coping self-efficacy and social support. *International Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *19*(1), 23-28. doi:10.1007/s12529-010-9121-x

- López-Piña, J. A., Sánchez-Meca, J., & Rosa-Alcázar, A. I. (2009). The Hamilton Rating Scale for Depression: A meta-analytic reliability generalization study. *International Journal of Clinical and Health Psychology*, 9(1), 143-159.
- Luke, S., Salihu, H. M., Alio, A. P., Mbah, A. K., Jeffers, D., Berry, E., & Mishkit, V. R. (2009).
  Risk factors for major antenatal depression among low-income African American
  women. *Journal of Women's Health*, *18*(11), 1841-1846. doi:10.1089/jwh.2008.1261
- Lynn, R., & Martin, T. (1997). Gender differences in extraversion, neuroticism, and psychoticism in 37 nations. *The Journal of Social Psychology*, *137*(3), 369-373. doi:10.1080/00224549709595447
- MacMillan, H. L., Fleming, J. E., Streiner, D. L., Lin, E., Boyle, M. H., Jamieson, E., & ...
  Beardslee, W. R. (2001). Childhood abuse and lifetime psychopathology in a community sample. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *158*(11), 1878-1883. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.158.11.1878
- Maier, W. W., Gänsicke, M. M., Gater, R. R., Rezaki, M. M., Tiemens, B. B., & Urzúa, R. (1999). Gender differences in the prevalence of depression: A survey in primary care. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *53*(3), 241-252. doi:10.1016/S0165-0327(98) 00131-1
- Maier, W., Gänsicke, M. M., Freyberger, H. J., Linz, M. M., Heun, R. R., & Lecrubier, Y. Y. (2000). Generalized anxiety disorder (ICD-10) in primary care from a cross-cultural perspective: A valid diagnostic entity? *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica, 101*(1), 29-36. doi:10.1034/j.1600-0447.2000.101001029.x

- Martin-Storey, A., Serbin, L. A., Stack, D. M., Ledingham, J. E., & Schwartzman, A. E. (2011).
  Self and peer perceptions of childhood aggression, social withdrawal and likeability
  predict adult substance abuse and dependence in men and women: A 30-year prospective
  longitudinal study. *Addictive Behaviors, 36*(12), 1267-1274.
  doi:10.1016/j.addbeh.2011.07.043
- McBride, C., & Bagby, R. (2006). Rumination and interpersonal dependency: Explaining women's vulnerability to depression. *Canadian Psychology/Psychologie Canadienne, 47*(3), 184-194. doi:10.1037/cp2006008
- McGilloway, A., Hall, R. E., Lee, T., & Bhui, K. S. (2010). A systematic review of personality disorder, race and ethnicity: Prevalence, aetiology and treatment. *BMC Psychiatry*, 10. doi:10.1186/1471-244X-10-33
- McGrath, E., Keita, G., Strickland, B. R., & Russo, N. (1990). Women and depression: Risk factors and treatment issues: Final report of the American Psychological Association's National Task Force on Women and Depression. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association. doi:10.1037/10074-000
- Measelle, J. R., Stice, E., & Hogansen, J. M. (2006). Developmental trajectories of co-occurring depressive, eating, antisocial, and substance abuse problems in female adolescents. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *115*(3), 524-538. doi:10.1037/0021-843X.115.3.524
- Meyer, C. C., Rumpf, H. J., Hapke, U. U., Dilling, H. H., & John, U. U. (2000). Lifetime prevalence of mental disorders in the adult general population: Findings from the TACOS study. *Der Nervenarzt*, 71(7), 535-542. doi:10.1007/s001150050623

- Millon, T. (1987). *Millon Clinical Multiaxial Inventory-II*: Manual for the MCMI-II (2<sup>nd</sup> ed). Minneapolis, MN: National Computer Systems.
- Mineka, S., & Zinbarg, R. (2006). A contemporary learning theory perspective on the etiology of anxiety disorders: It's not what you thought it was. *American Psychologist*, 61(1), 10-26. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.61.1.10
- Mineka, S., Watson, D., & Clark, L. (1998). Comorbidity of anxiety and unipolar mood disorders. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 49, 377-412.
  doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.49.1.377
- Morey, L. C., Warner, M. B., & Boggs, C. D. (2002). Gender bias in the personality disorders criteria: An investigation of five bias indicators. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioral Assessment*, 24(1), 55-65. doi:10.1023/A:1014005308914
- Murray, L., Arteche, A., Fearon, P., Halligan, S., Goodyer, I., & Cooper, P. (2011). Maternal postnatal depression and the development of depression in offspring up to 16 years of age. *Journal of The American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 50(5), 460-470. doi:10.1016/j.jaac.2011.02.001
- Myers, H. F., & Durvasula, R. S. (1999). Psychiatric disorders in African American men and women living with HIV/AIDS. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 5(3), 249-262. doi:10.1037/1099-9809.5.3.249
- Myers, H. F., Sumner, L. A., Ullman, J. B., Loeb, T. B., Carmona, J., & Wyatt, G. E. (2009).
  Trauma and psychosocial predictors of substance abuse in women impacted by
  HIV/AIDS. *The Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research, 36*(2), 233-246. doi:10.1007/s11414-008-9134-2

Newton-Howes, G., Tyrer, P., Anagnostakis, K., Cooper, S., Bowden-Jones, O., & Weaver, T. (2010). The prevalence of personality disorder, its comorbidity with mental state disorders, and its clinical significance in community mental health teams. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, *45*(4), 453-460. doi:10.1007/s00127-009-0084-7

Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (1990). Sex differences in depression. Stanford University Press.

- Nolen-Hoeksema, S. (1991). Responses to depression and their effects on the duration of depressive episodes. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *100*(4), 569-582.
   doi:10.1037/0021-843X.100.4.569
- Nolen-Hoeksema, S., Larson, J., & Grayson, C. (1999). Explaining the gender difference in depressive symptoms. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 77(5), 1061-1072. doi:10.1037/0022-3514.77.5.1061
- Nunes, E. V., Goehl, L., Seracini, A., Deliyannides, D., Donovan, S., Koenig, T., & ... Williams, J. W. (1996). A modification of the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-III-R to evaluate methadone patients: Test–retest reliability. *The American Journal on Addictions*, 5(3), 241-248. doi:10.3109/10550499609041178
- Nunes, E. V., Goehl, L., Seracini, A., Deliyannides, D., Donovan, S., PostKoenig, T., Quitkin, F.
  M., & Williams, J. (1996). A modification of the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-III-R: test–retest reliability. American Journal of Addictions 5, 241–248.
- O'Keane, V. (2000). Unipolar depression in women. (M. Steiner, K. A. Yonkers, & E. Ericksson, Eds.) In *Mood Disorders in Women* (pp. 119-136). London: Martin Dunitz.

- Oddone Paolucci, E., Genuis, M. L., & Violato, C. (2001). A meta-analysis of the published research on the effects of child sexual abuse. *Journal of Psychology: Interdisciplinary and Applied*, *135*(1), 17-36. doi:10.1080/00223980109603677
- O'Hara, M. W., & Swain, A. M. (1996). Rates and risk of postpartum depression-A metaanalysis. *International Review of Psychiatry*, 8(1), 37-54. doi:10.3109/09540269609037816
- Otto, M. W., Teachman, B. A., Cohen, L. S., Soares, C. N., Vitonis, A. F., & Harlow, B. L.
  (2007). Dysfunctional attitudes and episodes of major depression: Predictive validity and temporal stability in never-depressed, depressed, and recovered women. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *116*(3), 475-483. doi:10.1037/0021-843X.116.3.475
- Paris, J. (2001). Why behavioural genetics is important for psychiatry. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry / La Revue Canadienne de Psychiatrie, 46*(3), 223-224.
- Peleikis, D. E., Mykletun, A., & Dahl, A. A. (2005). Long-term social status and intimate relationship in women with childhood sexual abuse who got outpatient psychotherapy for anxiety disorder and depression. *Nordic Journal of Psychiatry*, *59*(1), 31-38. doi:10.1080/08039480510018805
- Pérez Benítez, C. I., Yen, S., Shea, M., Edelen, M. O., Markowitz, J. C., McGlashan, T. H., & ... Morey, L. C. (2010). Ethnicity in trauma and psychiatric disorders: Findings from the Collaborative Longitudinal Study of Personality Disorders. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 66(6), 583-598.
- Piatt, E. E. (2011). Race, mental illness, and premature mortality: Double jeopardy? *Psychiatric Services*, *62*(2), 223-224. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.62.2.223-a

- Pico-Alfonso, M. A., Echeburúa, E., & Martinez, M. (2008). Personality disorder symptoms in women as a result of chronic intimate male partner violence. *Journal of Family Violence, 23*(7), 577-588. doi:10.1007/s10896-008-9180-9
- Pico-Alfonso, M. A., Garcia-Linares, M., Celda-Navarro, N., Blasco-Ros, C., Echeburúa, E., & Martinez, M. (2006). The impact of physical, psychological, and sexual intimate male partner violence on women's mental health: Depressive symptoms, posttraumatic stress disorder, state anxiety, and suicide. *Journal of Women's Health*, 15(5), 599-611. doi:10.1089/jwh.2006.15.599
- Pigott, T.A. (1999). Gender differences in the epidemiology and treatment of anxiety disorders. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *60*, 4-15.
- Regier, D. A., Farmer, M. E., Rae, D. S., Locke, B. Z., Keith, S. J., Judd, L. L., & Goodwin, F.
  K. (1990). Comorbidity of mental disorders with alcohol and other drug abuse. Results from the Epidemiologic Catchment Area (ECA) study. *JAMA*, 264(19), 2511-2518.
- Rennison, C., & Planty, M. (2003). Nonlethal intimate partner violence: Examining race, gender, and income patterns. *Violence and Victims*, *18*(4), 433-443.
  doi:10.1891/vivi.2003.18.4.433
- Resnick, H. S., Kilpatrick, D. G., Dansky, B. S., Saunders, B. E., & Best, C. L. (1993).
  Prevalence of civilian trauma and posttraumatic stress disorder in a representative national sample of women. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *61*(6), 984-991. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.61.6.984

- Roberts, A. L., Gilman, S. E., Breslau, J. J., Breslau, N. N., & Koenen, K. C. (2011). Race/ethnic differences in exposure to traumatic events, development of post-traumatic stress disorder, and treatment-seeking for post-traumatic stress disorder in the United States. *Psychological Medicine*, *41*(1), 71-83. doi:10.1017/S0033291710000401
- Ruiz, M. A., Douglas, K. S., Edens, J. F., Nikolova, N. L., & Lilienfeld, S. O. (2012). Cooccurring mental health and substance use problems in offenders: Implications for risk assessment. *Psychological Assessment*, 24(1), 77-87. doi:10.1037/a0024623
- Sachs-Ericsson, N., Blazer, D., Plant, E., & Arnow, B. (2005). Childhood sexual and physical abuse and the 1-year prevalence of medical problems in the National Comorbidity
  Survey. *Health Psychology*, 24(1), 32-40. doi:10.1037/0278-6133.24.1.32
- Sarason, I. G., Johnson, J. H., & Siegel, J. M. (1978). Assessing the impact of life changes: Development of the Life Experiences Survey. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 46(5), 932-946. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.46.5.932
- Saveanu, R. V., & Nemeroff, C. B. (2012). Etiology of depression: Genetic and environmental factors. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 35(1), 51-71.
  doi:10.1016/j.psc.2011.12.001
- Schmidt, N. B., & Keough, M. E. (2010). Treatment of panic. *Annual Review of Clinical Psychology*, 6241-256.
- Seng, J. S., Kohn-Wood, L. P., McPherson, M. D., & Sperlich, M. (2011). Disparity in posttraumatic stress disorder diagnosis among African American pregnant women. *Archives of Women's Mental Health*, 14(4), 295-306. doi:10.1007/s00737-011-0218-2

- Sgroi, S. M. (1982). *Handbook of clinical intervention in child sexual abuse*. Massachusetts: Lexington Books.
- Shelton, R. C., Goldman, R. E., Emmons, K. M., Sorensen, G., & Allen, J. D. (2011). An investigation into the social context of low-income, urban Black and Latina women:
  Implications for adherence to recommended health behaviors. *Health Education & Behavior*, *38*(5), 471-481. doi:10.1177/1090198110382502
- Smoller, J. W., Block, S. R., & Young, M. M. (2009). Genetics of anxiety disorders: The complex road from DSM to DNA. *Depression and Anxiety*, 26(11), 965-975. doi:10.1002/da.20623
- South, S. C., & DeYoung, N. J. (2012). Behavior genetics of personality disorders: Informing classification and conceptualization in DSM-5. *Personality Disorders: Theory, Research, and Treatment*. Advance online publication. doi:10.1037/a0026255
- Spitzer, R. K., Williams, J. B., & Gibbon, M. (1987). *Structured clinical interview for DSM-III-R personality disorders*. New York: New York State Psychiatric Institute.
- Spitzer, R. L., Williams, J. B. W., Gibbon, M., & First, M. B. (1993). Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-III-R-SAC Version (SCID-SAC). New York: New York State Psychiatric Institute.
- Sprock, J., & Yoder, C. Y. (1997). Women and depression: An update on the report of the APA Task Force. *Sex Roles*, *36*(5-6), 269-303. doi:10.1007/BF02766649
- Suh, J. J., Ruffins, S., Robins, C., Albanese, M. J., & Khantzian, E. J. (2008). Self-medication hypothesis: Connecting affective experience and drug choice. *Psychoanalytic Psychology*, 25(3), 518-532. doi:10.1037/0736-9735.25.3.518

Sullivan, P. F., Neale, M. C., & Kendler, K. S. (2000). Genetic epidemiology of major
depression: Review and meta-analysis. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 157(10),
1552-1562. doi:10.1176/appi.ajp.157.10.1552

- Tolin, D. F., & Foa, E. B. (2008). Sex differences in trauma and posttraumatic stress disorder: A quantitative review of 25 years of research. *Psychological Trauma: Theory, Research, Practice, and Policy, S*(1), 37-85. doi:10.1037/1942-9681.S.1.37
- Trull, T. J. (2001). Structural relations between borderline personality disorder features and putative etiological correlates. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *110*(3), 471-481. doi:10.1037/0021-843X.110.3.471
- Trull, T. J., Jahng, S., Tomko, R. L., Wood, P. K., & Sher, K. J. (2010). Revised NESARC personality disorder diagnoses: Gender, prevalence, and comorbidity with substance dependence disorders. *Journal of Personality Disorders, 24*(4), 412-426. doi:10.1521/pedi.2010.24.4.412
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. (2012).*Child Maltreatment 2011*. Available from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb/research-data-technology/statistics-research/child-maltreatment.
- Unützer, J. (2008). Evidence-based treatments for anxiety and depression: Lost in translation? *Depression and Anxiety*, *25*(9), 726-729. doi:10.1002/da.20529
- Velleman, R. B., Templeton, L. J., & Copello, A. G. (2005). The role of the family in preventing and intervening with substance use and misuse: A comprehensive review of family interventions, with a focus on young people. *Drug and Alcohol Review*, 24(2), 93-109. doi:10.1080/09595230500167478

Vlachantoni, A. (2012). Financial inequality and gender in older people. *Maturitas*, 72(2), 104-107. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2012.02.015

- Wadsworth, M. E., & Achenbach, T. M. (2005). Explaining the link between low socioeconomic status and psychopathology: Testing two mechanisms of the social causation hypothesis. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *73*(6), 1146-1153. doi:10.1037/0022-006X.73.6.1146
- Watson, D. (2005). Rethinking the mood and anxiety disorders: A quantitative hierarchical model for DSM-V. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *114*(4), 522-536.
  doi:10.1037/0021-843X.114.4.522
- Watson, D., & Clark, L. A. (1984). Negative affectivity: The disposition to experience aversive emotional states. *Psychological Bulletin*, 96(3), 465-490. doi:10.1037/0033-2909.96.3.465
- Weiss, E. L., Longhurst, J. G., & Mazure, C. M. (1999). Childhood sexual abuse as a risk factor for depression in women: Psychosocial and neurobiological correlates. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 156(6), 816-828.
- Weissman, A. N. (1979). The Dysfunctional Attitude Scale: A validation study. *Dissertation Abstracts International, 40*, 1389.
- Weissman, M. M., Bland, R. C., Canino, G. J., Faravelli, C., Greenwald, S., Hwu, H. G.,...Yeh,
  E. K. (1996). Cross-national epidemiology of major depression and bipolar disorder. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 276(4), 293-299.
- Williams, L., Jacka, F., Pasco, J., Henry, M., Dodd, S., Nicholson, G., & ... Berk, M. (2010). The prevalence of mood and anxiety disorders in Australian women. *Australasian Psychiatry*, 18(3), 250-255. doi:10.3109/10398561003731155

- Wittchen, H., Lieb, R., Wunderlich, U., & Schuster, P. (1999). Comorbidity in primary care: Presentation and consequences. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *60*(Suppl 7), 29-36.
- Wolk, S. I., & Weissman, M. M. (1995). Women and depression: An update. American Psychiatric Press Review of Psychiatry, 14, 227-259.
- Zanarini, M. C., Barison, L. K., Frankenburg, F. R., Reich, B., & Hudson, J. I. (2009). Family history study of the familial coaggregration of borderline personality disorder with axis I and nonborderline dramatic cluster axis II disorders. *Journal of Personality Disorders, 23*(4), 357-359. doi:10.1521/pedi.2009.23.4.357
- Zanarini, M. C., Williams, A. A., Lewis, R. E., & Reich, R. (1997). Reported pathological childhood experiences associated with the development of borderline personality disorder. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *154*(8), 1101-1106.
- Zilberman, M. L., Tavares, H., Blume, S. B., & el-Guebaly, N. (2003). Substance use disorders: Sex differences and psychiatric comorbidities. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry / La Revue Canadienne de Psychiatrie, 48*(1), 5-13.
*Demographic Characteristics of the Participants* (n = 333)

Demographic Variable	Frequency	(Percent)
Ethnicity		
Black	155	(46.5)
Hispanic	149	(44.7)
White	19	(5.7)
Other	10	(3.0)
Marital Status		
Single (Never Married)	143	(42.9)
Divorced/Separated	101	(30.3)
Married	64	(19.2)
Widowed	9	(2.7)
Living w/ Partner	16	(4.8)
Highest Level of Education		
Partial High School	105	(31.5)
Attended College (No Degree)	93	(27.5)
Completed High School/Trade School	82	(24.6)
Attended Grade School	18	(5.4)
Completed College (Four-Year Degree)	17	(5.1)
Completed 8 <sup>th</sup> Grade	14	(4.2)
Completed Post-Graduate Training	2	(0.6)
No Schooling	1	(0.3)
Highest Level of Occupation		
Clerical/Sales Worker	104	(31.2)
Machine Operator (Semi-Skilled Employee)	97	(29.1)
Unskilled Employee	39	(11.7)
Skilled Manual Employee	36	(10.8)
Administrative Personnel	29	(8.7)
Never Worked In Paid Employment	23	(6.9)
Business Manager (Lesser Professional)	3	(0.9)

*Note:* For the purposes of this study, the 11 ethnic groups from the original study were recategorized according to primary ethnic identification.

Diagnosis	Frequency	(Percent)
Major Depression	75	(22.5)
Dysthymia	32	(9.6)
Total Depressive Disorders	96	(28.8)
Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder	66	(19.9)
Panic Disorder	15	(4.5)
Social Phobia	12	(3.6)
Total Anxiety Disorders	80	(24.0)
Total Internalizing Disorders	s 149	(44.7)
Alcohol Use Disorders	38	(11.4)
Other Substance Use Disorders	91	(27.3)
Total Substance Use Disorders	84	(25.2)
Antisocial Personality Disorder	53	(15.9)
Total Externalizing Disorders	s 95	(28.5)
Total Internalizing and Externalizing Disorders	244	(73.3)
Comorbid Internalizing & Externalizing Disorders	187	(56.2)
No Diagnosis	89	(26.7)

## Current Diagnoses of Internalizing and Externalizing Disorders

*Note:* The diagnosis of Other Substance Use Disorders includes current regular use with or without dependence as well as dependence in the past 6 months for the following substances: cocaine, crack, and/or any other substance(s) (i.e., sedatives/hypnotics, stimulants, opioids, etc.). Dysthymia is assessed for the past 6 months (rather than 2 years) on the SCID.

### Descriptive Data for Trauma and Abuse Scales

Variable	Mean	SD	Range	
Childhood General Trauma Childhood Physical and Emotional Abuse	1.91 50.75	1.31 22.53	0-6 23-111	
Childhood Sexual Abuse	1.82	2.68	0-11	

A. Means and Standard Deviations

*Note:* For Childhood General Trauma, total possible scores ranged from 0-8, with higher scores indicating a greater number of traumatic experiences. Scores for Childhood Physical Abuse were calculated using the sum of items rated on a 5 point Likert-type scale (1 = 'Never True' to 5 = 'Very Often True'). Total possible scores ranged from 23-115, with higher scores indicating greater incidence of physical/emotional abuse. Total possible scores for Childhood Sexual Abuse ranged from 0-11, with higher scores indicating a greater incidence of sexual abuse.

Total Number of	Frequency	Percent
Items Endorsed		
0	45	(13.5)
1	96	(28.8)
2	89	(26.7)
3	62	(18.6)
4	28	(8.4)
5	10	(3.0)
6	2	(0.6)

B. Frequencies and Percentages of Childhood General Trauma Items Endorsed

C. Frequencies and Percentages of Childhood Physical and Emotional Abuse

ed
(

Response	Frequency	Percent
1- "Never True"	227	(68.2)
2- "Rarely True"	14	(4.2)
3- "Sometimes True"	25	(7.5)
4- "Often True"	18	(5.4)
5- "Very Often True"	49	(14.7)

Note: For the purposes of this study, physical abuse was considered to have occurred if the participant endorsed item #15 on the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire with a 3 or above.

## 2. Item #22: I believe I was emotionally abused

Response	Frequency	Percent
1- "Never True"	197	(59.3)
2- "Rarely True"	10	(3.0)
3- "Sometimes True"	42	(12.7)
4- "Often True"	17	(5.1)
5- "Very Often True"	66	(19.9)

Note: For the purposes of this study, emotional abuse was considered to have occurred if the participant endorsed item #22 on the Childhood Trauma Questionnaire with a 3 or above.

Total Number of	Frequency	Percent
Items Endorsed		
0	187	(56.2)
1	26	(7.8)
2	20	(6.0)
3	24	(7.2)
4	10	(3.0)
5	23	(6.9)
6	9	(2.7)
7	14	(4.2)
8	10	(3.0)
9	3	(0.9)
10	4	(1.2)
11	1	(0.3)

D. Frequencies and Percentages of Sexual Abuse Items Endorsed

# Frequencies and Percentages for Categorical Predictor Variables

Variable	Frequency	(Percent)
Childhood History of Internalizing Disorder Childhood History of Substance Abuse	122 65	(36.6) (19.5)
Family History of Psychiatric Problems Family History of Substance Abuse	160 187	(48.0) (56.2)
Childhood History of Treatment for Psychological Problems Childhood History of Treatment for	45 7	(13.5)
Substance Abuse	,	()

# Pearson Correlations between Predictor Variables

Variable	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8
1) Childhood General Trauma 2) Childhood								
Physical/Emotional Abuse	.389**							
Sexual Abuse	.363**	.507**						
4) Childhood Internalizing Disorder	258**	525**	393**					
5) Childhood Substance Abuse	370**	268**	195**	.113*				
6) Family History of Psychiatric Problems	050	229**	137*	.204**	.067			
7) Family History of Substance Abuse	316**	310**	275**	.180**	.266**	.246**		
8) Childhood Treatment for Psychological	195**	332**	221**	.374**	.182**	.136*	.136*	
Problems 9) Childhood Treatment for Substance Abuse	058	145*	080	.149**	.139*	.109*	.129*	.248**

\*p<.05; \*\*p<.001.

Variable	Internalizing Disorders	Externalizing Disorders	Hamilton Depression Rating Scale
Childhood General Trauma	309**	390**	.327**
Childhood Physical/Emotional Abuse	436**	224**	.409**
Childhood Sexual Abuse	300**	205**	.213**
Childhood Internalizing Disorders	.379**	.016	264**
Childhood Substance Abuse	.242**	.528**	220**
Family History of Psychiatric Problems	.135*	044	175**
Family History of Substance Abuse	.190**	.297**	185**
Childhood History of Treatment for Psychological Problems	.137*	.023	191**
Childhood History of Treatment for Substance Abuse	.120*	.093	197**

# Pearson Correlations between Predictor Variables and Criterion Variables

\*p<.05; \*\*p<.001.

# Logistic Regression Analysis Predicting Internalizing Disorders

Variable	β	SE	Wald	df	р
Step 1					
Childhood General Trauma	278	.123	5.066	1	.024
Childhood Physical/Emotional Abuse	028	.008	11.973	1	.001
Childhood Sexual Abuse	.010	.059	.028	1	.867
Childhood Psychological Problems	.669	.306	4.777	1	.029
Childhood Substance Abuse	.495	.367	1.818	1	.178
Family History of	.270	.282	.913	1	.339
Family History of Substance	.173	.302	.330	1	.566
Step 2					
Childhood General Trauma	274	.125	4.828	1	.028
Childhood Physical/Emotional	028	.008	11.914	1	.001
Childhood Sexual Abuse	.011	.059	.033	1	.855
Childhood Psychological Problems	.674	.307	4.818	1	.028
Childhood Substance Abuse	.484	.370	1.709	1	.191
Family History of	.274	.283	.938	1	.333
Family History of Substance	.168	.302	.307	1	.579
Participant Ethnicity	.051	.217	.056	1	.812

# A. With Participant Ethnicity Added in the Second Step

Variable	β	SE	Wald	df	р
Step 2					
Childhood General Trauma	283	.124	5.219	1	.022
Childhood Physical/Emotional	029	.008	12.210	1	<.001
Childhood Sexual Abuse	.010	.059	.027	1	.869
Childhood Psychological Problems	.711	.316	5.054	1	.025
Childhood Substance Abuse	.495	.368	1.810	1	.179
Family History of	.275	.283	.944	1	.331
Family History of Substance	.161	.303	.282	1	.596
Childhood Treatment for Psychological Problems	288	.439	.430	1	.512
Childhood Treatment for Substance Abuse	.342	1.044	.107	1	.743

# B. With Childhood Treatment Variables Added in the Second Step

Logistic Regression Analysis Predicting Externalizing Disorders

Variable	β	SE	Wald	df	р
Step 1					
Childhood General Trauma	356	.142	6.268	1	.012
Childhood Physical/Emotional Abuse	008	.009	.708	1	.400
Childhood Sexual Abuse	065	.066	.948	1	.330
Childhood Internalizing	-1.090	.419	6.764	1	.009
Childhood Substance Abuse	2.488	.406	37.541	1	<.001
Family History of Psychiatric	700	.349	4.037	1	.045
Family History of Substance	1.228	.391	9.852	1	.002
Step 2					
Childhood General Trauma	340	.144	5.559	1	.018
Childhood Physical/Emotional	008	.009	.732	1	.392
Childhood Sexual Abuse	061	.066	.853	1	.356
Childhood Internalizing	-1.080	.421	6.588	1	.010
Childhood Substance Abuse	2.465	.408	36.568	1	<.001
Family History of Psychiatric	685	.350	3.838	1	.050
Family History of Substance	1.206	.392	9.446	1	.002
Participant Ethnicity	.167	.256	.424	1	.515

# A. With Participant Ethnicity Added in the Second Step

Variable	β	SE	Wald	df	р
Step 2					
Childhood General Trauma	363	.143	6.400	1	.011
Childhood Physical/Emotional	009	.009	.949	1	.330
Childhood Sexual Abuse	064	.067	.915	1	.339
Childhood Internalizing Disorder	975	.433	5.076	1	.024
Childhood Substance Abuse	2.561	.423	36.704	1	<.001
Family History of Psychiatric Problems	712	.352	4.088	1	.043
Family History of Substance	1.254	.398	9.926	1	.002
Childhood Treatment for Psychological Problems	782	.545	2.062	1	.151
Childhood Treatment for Substance Abuse	.921	1.050	.769	1	.381

# B. With Childhood Treatment Variables Added in the Second Step

# Linear Regression Predicting Hamilton Depression Rating Scale Score

Variable	β	t	р
Step 1 Childhood General Trauma	1.101	2.807	.005
Childhood Physical/Emotional Abuse	.113	4.387	<.001
Childhood Sexual Abuse	124	663	.508
Childhood History of Internalizing Disorder	305	290	.772
Childhood History of Substance Abuse	-1.300	-1.075	.283
Family History of Psychiatric Problems	-1.357	-1.502	.134
Family History of Substance Abuse	.095	.099	.921
Step 2			
Childhood General Trauma	1.096	2.756	.006
Childhood Physical/Emotional Abuse	.113	4.379	<.001
Childhood Sexual Abuse	125	665	.507
Childhood History of Internalizing Disorder	311	294	.769
Childhood History of Substance Abuse	-1.292	-1.062	.289
Family History of Psychiatric Problems	-1.359	-1.501	.134
Family History of Substance Abuse	.102	.105	.916
Participant Ethnicity	050	073	.942

# A. With Participant Ethnicity Added in the Second Step

*Note:* R = .461,  $R^2 = .213$ , Adjusted  $R^2 = .193$ .

Variable	β	t	р
Step 2 Childhood General Trauma	1 1 5 2	2,958	003
	100	2.950	.005
Childhood Physical/Emotional Abuse	.108	4.211	<.001
Childhood Sexual Abuse	119	641	.522
	115	105	015
Childhood History of Internalizing Disorder	.115	.107	.915
Childhood History of Substance Abuse	863	712	.477
	1 0 0 0	1	151
Family History of Psychiatric Problems	-1.232	-1.374	.171
Family History of Substance Abuse	.227	.238	.812
	0.64	(10	5 <b>2</b> 7
Childhood Treatment for Psychological Problems	864	618	.537
Childhood Treatment for Substance Abuse	-6.862	-2.387	.018

# B. With Childhood Treatment Variables Added in the Second Step

*Note:* R = .461,  $R^2 = .213$ , Adjusted  $R^2 = .193$ .

_							
	African Hispanic Caucasian Other						
_	American						
	M	M	M	M	F	df	р
Variable	(SD)	(SD)	(SD)	(SD)			
Childhood							
General	2.342	1.474	1.882	1.600	11.235	3, 302	<.001
Trauma	(.104)	(.109)	(.306)	(.399)			
Childhood							
Physical/	54.151	45.526	54.118	59.900	4.314	3, 302	.005
Emotional Abuse	(1.832)	(1.919)	(5.368)	(6.999)			
Childhood	2.233	1.451	2.471	1.100	2.488	3, 302	.061
Sexual Abuse	(.224)	(.235)	(.656)	(.855)			

# Between Group MANOVA for Participant Ethnicity and Trauma and Abuse Scales

### APPENDIX A: STRUCTURED CLINICAL INTERVIEW FOR AXIS I DSM-IV DISORDERS

STRUCTURED CLINICAL INTERVIEW FOR AXIS I DSM-IV DISORDERS

## Patient Edition

SCID-SAC (Version 2.0)

4

N. 1.

#### 1994 DRAFT

Michael B. First, M.D.; Robert L. Spitzer, M.D.; Miriam Gibbon, M.S.W.; and Janet B.W. Williams, D.S.W.

Study:	Study No.:
Subject:	I.D. No.:
Rater:,	Rater No.: Date of Interview: Mo. Day Year
Sources of information (check all that apply)	: Subject Family/friends/associates Health professional/chart/ referral note
а	
Edited and checked by:	Date:
The development of the SCID was supported in NIMH Contract #278-83-0007(DB) and NIMH Gran For citation: First, Michael B., Spitzer, H and Williams, Janet B.W.: "Si for Axis I DSM-IV Disorders Version 2.0)" Biometrics Research Departmen New York State Psychiatric In	n part by nt #1 RO1 MH40511. Robert L., Gibbon, Miriam, tructured Clinical Interview - Patient Edition (SCID-I/P, nt nstitute

722 West 168th Street

New York, New York 10032

(c) 1994 Biometrics Research Department

# APPENDIX B: DEMOGRAPHIC HISTORY FORM

Interviewer:		<u>.</u>	Subject Number: Program Name:	
DEMOGRAPHIC HISTO	ORY FORM			
Age:				
Ethnicity (1) White (2) White (3) White (10) Nativ	e Only e & Hispanic e & Other e American	<ul> <li>(4) Black Only</li> <li>(5) Black &amp; Hispanic</li> <li>(6) Black &amp; Other</li> <li>(11) Other</li> </ul>	(7) Amerasian (8) Asian (9) Hispanic Only	
-ALWAYS SPECIFY Co -ALWAYS ASK: A. Father's Eth B. Mother's Eth C. If you had to	ountry/Countries: nicity nicity choose, would y	ou say you identify more as	"A" or "B?"	
-Were You Born On Ma If No, How Man	inland USA y Years Have Yo	ou Been Living In U.S.?	(1) Yes	(2) No years
-Primary Languages Sp	oken: 1 = Eng 3 = Oth 4 = Both	glish 2 = Spanis her (Specify) h English and Spanish		<del>,</del>
Religion $1 = Ca$ 2 = Pri 3 = Jei 4 = Original $5 = Nei$	atholic rotestant wish ther one temple?		2 = NO	
If yes, how many tir	nes a year?	1 - 123	2-110	
Marital Status:	1 = Single (Ne 2 = Legally Ma 3 = Divorced / 4 = Widowed 5 = Living With	ver Married) nried Separated h Partner (Or Sustained Cor	njugal Situation)	
Patient's Living Arrange 1 = Alone (Own Home 2 = Own Or Spousal H 3 = Parent Household 4 = Children's Househ 5 = Relative's Househ	ement (Current): ) lousehold old old	6 = Household Sh Others (Non-F 7 = Halfway Hous 8 = Welfare Hotel 9 = Shelter 10 = Homeless	ared With Relative) e / SRO	1 1
Composition Of Patient (Circle 1 = 'Yes'; 2 = ' Yes No	's Household Du No')	ring Month Prior To Assessr	nent:	
1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2 1 2	Patient Mother Father Siblings Spouse Childrer Other R	n # = elatives # =		
1 2 Total Number Of Perso	Non Re ns In Patient's He	latives # = ousehold (Including Patient)	·	

Highest Level Of Education Achieved:

- 1 = Completed Post- Graduate Training
- 2 = Completed College, Received Four Year Academic Degree
- 3 = Attended College, But Did Not Receive Four Year Degree
- 4 = Completed High School Or Trade School Or Other Non- Academic Training Requiring High-School Completion For Admission
- 5 = Partial High-School
- 6 = Completed 8th Grade
- 7 = Attended Grade School
- 8 = No Schooling
- 99 = Does Not Apply / Info Not Available

Highest Level Of Occupation Achieved:

- 1 = Higher Executive, Proprietor Of Large Concern, Major Professional
- 2 = Business Manager Of Large Concern, Proprietor Of Medium Sized Business, Lesser Professional
- 3 = Administrative Personnel, Owner Small Independent Business Minor Professional, Owner Of Medium Sized Farm
- 4 = Clerical Or Sales Worker, Technician, Owner Of A Small Business
- 5 = Skilled Manual Employee, Owner Of A Small Farm
- 6 = Machine Operator, Semi-Skilled Employee, Tenant Farmer
- 7 = Unskilled Employee, Share Cropper
- 8 = Never Worked In Paid Employment
- 99 = Does Not Apply / Info Not Available

What Has Been Your Usual Employment Pattern Over The Past Three Years:

(1) Full-Time (40 Hours/Wk) (4) Retired / Disability

- (2) Part-Time (Reg. Hours) (5) Unemployed
- (3) Part-Time (Irregular)

(6) In Institution

(8) Military Service (9) Homemaker

(7) Student

How Many Days Were You Paid For Working In The Past 30 Days? (Include Under The Table Work.) ..... Days

How Much Money Did You Receive From The Following Sources In The Past 30 Days?

- \$ \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_ \_\_\_. Employment: Net Income
- \$ \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_. Unemployment Compensation
- \$ \_\_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_\_. Public Assistance (Including Food Stamps)
- \$ \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_\_ Pension, Benefits, Social Security
- \$ \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_ \_\_\_. Spouse, Family, Friends
- \$ \_\_\_\_, \_\_\_ \_\_\_. Illegal Sources

### PSYCHIATRIC TREATMENT HISTORY

Have You Ever Been In Psychiatric Outpatient Treatment? (i.e., Individual Psychotherapy, Day Program, Family Therapy)	1 = Yes	2 = No
If Yes: How Old Were You The First Time You Went For Outpa About How Many Years In Your Life Have You Received Outpat How Many Months Over The Past Year?	tient Tx? tient Tx?	
5. g		
Have You Ever Been Hospitalized For Psychiatric Problems? How Old Were You The First Hospitalization?	1 = Yes	2 = No
How Many Times Have You Been In A Psychiatric Hospital? How Many Times Over The Past Year?		
Have You Ever Tried To Kill Yourself?	1 = Yes	2 = No
How (Describe Method)?		
		·

3

Have You Ever Had to Visit the Emergency Room For Any Medical Problems?1 = Yes 2 = No If Yes, Then Ask About Medical Problems:

### SUBSTANCE ABUSE TREATMENT HISTORY

Have You Ever Received Outpatien Abuse? (Do Not Include Self-Help G How Old Were You The First Tin How Many Times Have You Had How Many Times Over Past Yea	t Treatment For Dru Groups) ne You Received Ai I Outpt Substance A Ir:	ig / Alcohol ny Substance A buse Tx:	1 = Yes Abuse Treatme	2 = No nt:
Have You Ever Attended Self-Help	Groups?		1 = Yes	2 = No
How Old Were You When You F	irst Attended Self-H	lelp Groups:		
Have You Ever Been Hospitalized Fo Detox? Drug Rehab? TC - Drug-Free Program? (If Yes to Any of the Above;)	or Drug / Alcohol Pr 1 = Yes 1 = Yes 1 = Yes	oblems? 2 = No 2 = No 2 = No	1 = Yes	2 = No
How Old Were You The First Time Y Detox Hospitalization Alcohol / Drug Rehab Stay: TC - Drug-Free Program:	'ou Attended:			
How Many Times Have You Had Dru How Many Times Over The Past	ıg / Alcohol Hospita Year:	lizations		
Have You Ever Been Arrested ? What For?			1 = Yes	2 = No
Incarcerated?			1 = Yes	2 = No

#### FAMILY HISTORY

Has Either Of Your Parents Ever Had Any Of The Following Problems Because Of Alcohol Or Deliberate Use Of Drugs:

Marital Separa	Marital Separation Or Divorce?			1 = Yes	2 = No
Laid Off From	Laid Off From Work Or Fired?			1 = Yes	2 = No
Two Or More	Drunk Driving	Arrests?		1 = Yes	2 = No
Repeatedly U	nable To Care	For Home Or F	amily?	1 = Yes	2 = No
Doctor Said A	Doctor Said Alcohol Or Drugs Had Harmed Their Health?				2 = No
	Mother	Father	Sibling	Children	Others
Severe Depression?					
Mediaetione?					
Medications?					
Alconolism?	<u></u>	10 M		<u> </u>	
Drug Abuse?					
Suicide?					—
Is There A Family His	tory Of Alcoho	olism?		1 = Yes	2 = No
Is There A Family Hist	There A Family History Of Drug Abuse?			1 = Yes	2 = No
s There A Family History Of Depression?				1 = Yes	2 = No

### SEXUALITY AND REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH

\* Sexuality and pregnancy are important parts of a woman's life, often called "reproductive health." In the next series of questions, we are interested in learning about your reproductive health. Let's start by talking about the pregnancies you've had. (WHERE APPROPRIATE: Y = YES N = NO)

1. Are You Currently Pregnant?
2. Have You Been Pregnant Before?
3. How Many Times Have You Been Pregnant?
4. When You Had The First Pregnancy, How Old Were You?
5. When You Had The Last Pregnancy, How Old Were You?
6. How Many Of Your Children Are Living Now?
7. Have They Ever Lived With You?
8. How Many Live With You Now?
9. Have You Had Any Abortions? (Response should be # of abortions or N.)
10. Have You Had Any Miscarriages? (Response should be # of miscarriages or N.)
11. Did You Ever Have A Stillbirth? (Response should be # of stillbirths or N.)
12. Where Any Babies Born Prematurely? (Response should be # of premies or N.)
13. Were Any Babies Born Alive But Later Died? (Response should be # of babies or N.)

## APPENDIX C: TRAUMA LIFE HISTORY

Date of Interview:

#### Subject Number

#### A. GENERAL TRAUMA

People often have traumatic experiences. By traumatic, I mean terrible, frightening events. I'm going to read a list of potentially traumatic events. Please tell me if you have ever experienced any of these.

TRAUMATIC EXPERIENCE	YES = 1 NO = 2	# times in life	# times past 6 mos	AGES
1. Have you ever been in a large fire or explosion?		-		
2. Were you ever in a fire or serious accident in a car, at home, or at work?			9 3 3 8 4 8	. *
3. As a child (before age 18), did you witness violence between your parents (e.g., see your mom be hit or beaten)?				
4. When you were a child, did any of your closest family members (e.g., parent, brother, sister, grandparent) die?			-	
5. As an adult (after age 18), did any of your close family members die?				
6. Have any of your children died or have you lost them through placement?				
7. Have you ever witnessed a murder or mutilation?	алана 1911 - 1911 - 1911 - 1911 - 1911 - 1911 - 1911 - 1911 - 1911 - 1911 - 1911 - 1911 - 1911 - 1911 - 1911 - 1911 -			
8. Has there ever been a period of time when you were homeless?	- 12		1	

9. PTSD SCREEN: If yes to any items above, ask:

Did any of these events keep coming back to you in some way, like in dreams, flashbacks, or thoughts that you couldn't get rid of -- like that you could have died or been seriously hurt? YES = 1

NO = 2

f YES, return to PTSD module of SCID and gather additional data. If already have this information, move on to next section.

# APPENDIX D: CHILDHOOD TRAUMA QUESTIONNAIRE

### D. CHILDHOOD PA

These question you turned 18 of these question P.2, ITEM 8 of	is ask about som . For each quest ons are of a pers your booklet and	ne of your experiences of ion, tell me the number sonal nature, please try d tell me the number the	growing up as a that best descri to answer as ho at most describe	child and a teenager, u bes how you feel. Althoug nestly as you can. Please s how the item I read was	p until gh some turn to s true for			
Never True	Rarely True	Sometimes True	Often True	Very Often True				
1. When I was	growing up, peo	ple in my family criticize	ed me	5	CODE			
2. When I was growing up, people in my family argued or fought with each other.								
3, someon	3, someone in my family yelled and screamed at me							
4, I saw m	y mother or one	of my brothers or sister	s get hit or beat	en	···:			
5, people i	n my family call	ed me things like "stupi	d" or "lazy" or "u	gly"				
6, I rarely (	got the love or a	ttention that I needed						
7, I had to	protect myself f	rom someone in my fan	nily by fighting, I	niding or running away				
8, my pare	ents tried to treat	all of us children the sa	ame					
9, I though	t that my parent	s wished I had never be	en born					
10, I got hi	10, I got hit so hard by someone in my family that I had to see a doctor or go to the hospital.							
11,people	11,people in my family hit me so hard that it left me with bruises or marks							
12, I was punished with a belt, a board, or cord, or some other hard object								
13, people	13, people in my family got drunk or high							
14, people in my family said hurtful or insulting things to me								
15, I believe that I was physically abused.								
16, I got hit or beaten so badly that it was noticed by someone like a teacher, neighbor, or doctor.								
17, people	in my family se	emed out of control						
18, the pur	nishments I rece	ived seemed cruel		С <sup>1</sup> на к				
19, I felt th	iat someone in n	ny family hated me						
20, people	in my family pu	shed me or shoved me						
21, I was f	rightened of bein	ng hurt by someone in r	ny family					
22, I believ	ve I was emotion	ally abused						
23, people in my family didn't seem to know or care what I was doing								

### APPENDIX E: CHILDHOOD SEXUAL ABUSE INVENTORY

### E. CHILDHOOD SA

It is now generally realized that many women, while they were children or adolescents, have had sexual experience with an adult or someone older than themselves. By sexual, I mean behaviors ranging from exposing his/her genitals to you, to someone having intercourse with you. These experiences may have involved a relative, a friend of the family, or a stranger. Some experiences are very upsetting and painful, others are not, and some may have occurred without your consent.

Now I'd like you to think back to your childhood and adolescence -- that is, when you were 18 or younger -- and remember if you had any sexual contact with a relative, a family friend, or stranger who was more than 5 years older that your were? Or, if closer to you own age, someone who forced you to have sex. INTERVIEWERS: ANY SEX, EVEN CONSENSUAL, WITH SOMEONE MORE THAN FIVE YEARS OLDER, SHOULD BE CODED HERE.

CODES:	Yes = 1	No = 2	Don't Know = 0
During childhood and adolescence			
1did anyone ever show you their sexual	I private parts?		
2did anyone masturbate (get off) in from	nt of you?		······································
3did anyone ever touch your body, incluyou off sexually?	uding your breasts	or private par	s, or attempt to get
4did anyone try to have you get them o	ff, or touch <u>their</u> b	ody in a sexua	l way?
5did anyone rub against your body in a	sexual way?		
6did anyone attempt to have sex with y	ou?		······
7did anyone have intercourse with you?	?		
8did anyone ever put their penis in your	r mouth, or put the	eir mouth on yo	ur private parts?
9did anyone ever put their penis or ano	ther object in you	r butt or behind	?
10did anyone ever take pictures of you	while you were na	aked or having	sex with someone?
11did you have any other sexual contact	ct other than what	I've asked you	about?
IF YES TO ANY OF THE ABOVE, ENTER	Y AND ASK TH		G QUESTIONS:
12. Did the abuse happen on one or more the Code: 1 = Once 2 = 2 or 3 Times 3 = 3 t	nan one occasion? o 10 Times 4 = O	ver 10 Times	Y/N 5 = Chronic
13. Were you abused by one person, or more	re than one? (Ente	er # of abusers	)
14. Who was the person? (Name all if more with you?	than one) What v	vas the relation	ship that he/she/them had
15. How old were you when the abuse starte	ed? (Age/s)		······································
16. How long did the abuse go on? (Estimat	e total number of	months)	
17. What kind of pressure was used?			

### APPENDIX F: HAMILTON DEPRESSION RATING SCALE

#### Patient's Name

#### Date of Assessment

To rate the severity of depression in patients who are already diagnosed as depressed, administer this questionnaire. The higher the score, the more severe the depression.

### For each item, write the correct number on the line next to the item. (Only one response per item)

1. **DEPRESSED MOOD** (Sadness, hopeless, helpless, worthless)

**0**= Absent

- 1= These feeling states indicated only on questioning
- 2= These feeling states spontaneously reported
- verbally
- 3= Communicates feeling states non-verbally—i.e., through facial expression, posture, voice, and tendency to weep
- 4= Patient reports VIRTUALLY ONLY these feeling states in his spontaneous verbal and non-verbal communication

#### 2. FEELINGS OF GUILT

**0**= Absent

- 1= Self reproach, feels he has let people down
- 2= Ideas of guilt or rumination over past errors or sinful deeds
- **3**= Present illness is a punishment. Delusions of guilt
- 4= Hears accusatory or denunciatory voices and/or experiences threatening visual hallucinations

#### 3. SUICIDE

- **0**= Absent
- 1= Feels life is not worth living
- **2**= Wishes he were dead or any thoughts of possible death to self
- **3=** Suicidal ideas or gesture
- **4=** Attempts at suicide (any serious attempt rates 4)

### 4. INSOMNIA EARLY

- **0**= No difficulty falling asleep
- 1= Complains of occasional difficulty falling as leep—i.e., more than 1/2 hour
- ho
  - 2= Complains of nightly difficulty falling asleep

### 5. INSOMNIA MIDDLE

**0**= No difficulty

1 = Patient complains of being restless and disturbed during the night

2= Waking during the night—any getting out of bed rates 2 (except for purposes of voiding)

### 6. INSOMNIA LATE

- **0**= No difficulty
- 1 = Waking in early hours of the morning but goes back to sleep
- 2= Unable to fall asleep again if he gets out of bed

### 7. WORK AND ACTIVITIES

- 0= No difficulty
- 1 = Thoughts and feelings of incapacity, fatigue or weakness related to activities; work or hobbies
- 2= Loss of interest in activity; hobbies or work—either directly reported by patient, or indirect in listlessness, indecision and vacillation (feels he has to push self to work or activities)
- 3= Decrease in actual time spent in activities or decrease in productivity
- 4= Stopped working because of present illness
- 8. **RETARDATION: PSYCHOMOTOR** (Slowness of thought and speech; impaired ability to concentrate; decreased motor activity)
  - 0= Normal speech and thought
  - 1 = Slight retardation at interview
  - 2= Obvious retardation at interview
  - 3= Interview difficult
  - 4= Complete stupor

### 9. AGITATION

- 0= None
- 1 = Fidgetiness
- 2= Playing with hands, hair, etc.
- **3=** Moving about, can't sit still
- 4= Hand wringing, nail biting, hair-pulling, biting of lips

### 10. ANXIETY (PSYCHOLOGICAL)

- 0= No difficulty
- 1 = Subjective tension and irritability
- 2= Worrying about minor matters
- 3= Apprehensive attitude apparent in face or speech
- **4**= Fears expressed without questioning
- 11. ANXIETY SOMATIC: Physiological concomitants of anxiety, (i.e., effects of autonomic overactivity, "butterflies," indigestion, stomach cramps, belching, diarrhea, palpitations, hyperventilation, paresthesia, sweating, flushing, tremor, headache, urinary frequency). Avoid asking about possible medication side effects (i.e., dry mouth, constipation)
  - 0= Absent
  - 1= Mild
  - 2= Moderate
  - 3= Severe
  - 4= Incapacitating

### 12. SOMATIC SYMPTOMS (GASTROINTESTINAL)

0= None

1 = Loss of appetite but eating without encouragement from others. Food intake about normal2 = Difficulty eating without urging from others. Marked reduction of appetite and food intake

### 13. SOMATIC SYMPTOMS GENERAL

- 0= None
- 1= Heaviness in limbs, back or head. Backaches, headache, muscle aches. Loss of energy and fatigability
- **2=** Any clear-cut symptom rates 2
- 14. **GENITAL SYMPTOMS** (Symptoms such as: loss of libido; impaired sexual performance; menstrual disturbances)
  - 0= Absent 1= Mild 2= Severe

#### 15. HYPOCHONDRIASIS

- 0= Not present
- **1**= Self-absorption (bodily)
- 2= Preoccupation with health
- **3=** Frequent complaints, requests for help, etc.
- 4= Hypochondriacal delusions

### 16. LOSS OF WEIGHT

- **A.** When rating by history:
  - 0= No weight loss
  - 1= Probably weight loss associated with present illness
  - 2= Definite (according to patient) weight loss
  - 3= Not assessed

#### 17. INSIGHT

0= Acknowledges being depressed and ill

1= Acknowledges illness but attributes cause to bad food, climate, overwork, virus, need for rest, etc.
 2= Denies being ill at all

### 18. DIURNAL VARIATION

- A. Note whether symptoms are worse in morning or evening. If NO diurnal variation, mark none
  - 0= No variation
  - 1= Worse in A.M.
  - 2= Worse in P.M.
- B. When present, mark the severity of the variation. Mark "None" if NO variation
  - 0= None
  - 1 = Mild
  - 2= Severe